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2020 Annual Report
January 1 - December 31, 2020

This document was prepared by the City of 
Courtenay’s Corporate Support Services and 
Financial Services Departments.

Photos by Kim Stallknecht and 
the City of Courtenay unless otherwise noted.

Our Mission: The City of Courtenay proudly 
serves our community by providing a balanced 
range of sustainable municipal services.

Courtenay, 
British Columbia
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Message from the Mayor 
2020 represented a seismic shift as 
we rapidly and unexpectedly adapted 
to life in a pandemic, including 
unprecedented restrictions on our daily 
lives. Only now, nearly one and a half 
years later, are we cautiously emerging 
from this challenging time thanks to the 
scientists and medical professionals 
who have developed highly effective 
vaccines and are leading us out of this 
public health crisis. 

Our thoughts go out to all those whose 
lives have been affected by COVID. 

We have been relatively fortunate on 
Vancouver Island compared to others 
across the country and internationally. 
For that we can credit the collective 
efforts of our island residents, 
businesses, and communities who 
followed public health guidelines 
and restrictions, and of course our 
tremendous health care workers and 
emergency responders who have been 
dealing with this crisis head-on since 
last year to keep us safe. 

As someone who has worked with 
technology my entire adult life, it was 
gratifying and inspiring to see how 
virtual options helped people stay 
connected with their family, friends, 
loved ones, and colleagues, even while 
we were being advised to stay apart. 

I’m proud of how the City of Courtenay 
rose to the challenge of implementing 
these new tools for various purposes 
including Council meetings, public 
hearings, and community consultation, 
and excited that expanded 
communication options will remain 
available in the future to support 
openness, transparency, accessibility, 
and accountability in local government.  

Other priorities in Courtenay in 2020 
included coordinating with local 
agencies and community groups on 
the immediate needs of those who 
are unhoused. Numerous initiatives 
with the Comox Valley Coalition to 
End Homelessness in 2020 included 
emergency funding to support the 
continued operations of several local 
agencies while they waited for provincial 
and federal support.  

Another area of concern is housing 
affordability. Courtenay Council has 
declared our support for housing 
diversity through our Strategic Priorities 
and is actively working on finding 
solutions. Through the consultation 
process for our Official Community Plan 
(OCP) update, housing choice emerged 
as a priority for our community, 
including support for rentals, suites, 
townhomes and small apartments. 

Our updated OCP is also setting 
ambitious targets to address climate 
change, including a commitment to 
reach net-zero emissions by 2050. At 
the same time, we are preparing for a 
range of impacts that are predicted to 
include rising temperatures, sea level 
rise, more frequent flooding, decreased 
snow packs, and increased wildfire risks. 

We're very mindful of building on good 
relations with K’ómoks First Nation, 
on whose traditional territory we live, 
work, and play. Courtenay has adopted 
the United Nations Declaration on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples 
(UNDRIP), formally enshrining the 
City of Courtenay's commitment to 
reconciliation. Courtenay is one of the 
first local governments in BC to adopt 
UNDRIP principles.

Further, our Council has committed to 
a focus on equity and inclusion in our 
strategic planning for 2021.

I am profoundly grateful to my Council 
colleagues and our City staff for their 
deep dedication to addressing these 
myriad challenges and opportunities. I 
know that we will do everything in our 
power to ensure we are positioned to 
tackle these priorities head-on, for the 
benefit of this community we all know 
and love and the people within it.

Mayor Bob Wells
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Mayor and Council
Top row (left to right:) Manno Theos, David Frisch, Doug Hillian, Will Cole-Hamilton

Bottom row (left to right:) Wendy Morin, Bob Wells, Melanie McCollum

Courtenay Council was elected to a four year term in October 2018.

Each member of council represents the City at large. Councillors serve on various 
boards, including the Comox Valley Regional District, Vancouver Island Regional Library 
and the Comox Valley Water Supply Commission. 

Members of the public are encouraged to view and participate in the Council meeting 
process. COVID-19 has resulted in temporary changes to in-person participation in 
Council meetings. Please visit www.courtenay.ca/councilmeetings for the latest 
information.

Council Meetings are generally held on the first and third Mondays of each month, and 
Strategic Planning/Committee of the Whole meetings occur on the last Monday of the 
month. For more information on City Council, including meeting agendas, minutes, and 
video, and appearing as a Council delegation, go to www.courtenay.ca/council

Contact Council
c/o Courtenay City Hall 
830 Cliffe Avenue 
Courtenay, B.C. V9N 2J7

Tel. 250-334-4441 
Email council@courtenay.ca 

Mayor Bob Wells 
mayor@courtenay.ca

Councillor Will Cole-Hamilton 
wcole-hamilton@courtenay.ca 

Councillor David Frisch 
dfrisch@courtenay.ca

Councillor Doug Hillian 
dhillian@courtenay.ca

Councillor Melanie McCollum 
mmccollum@courtenay.ca

Councillor Wendy Morin 
wmorin@courtenay.ca

Councillor Manno Theos 
mtheos@courtenay.ca
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Message from the  
Chief Administrative Officer
On behalf of the staff of the City of 
Courtenay, thank you for reviewing this 
annual report and learning more about 
the City’s operations and projects 
during what proved to be a historically 
challenging year. 

I am new in the role of CAO for the 
City of Courtenay as of April 2021, but 
I’m very familiar with the organization 
and the community, having previously 
worked at the City of Courtenay from 
2003 to 2006, and as a Comox Valley 
resident for over 20 years. I am a 
community planner by training with a 
focus on growth management, climate 
adaptation and resiliency, community 
engagement and Indigenous relations.

I’ve seen first-hand how dramatically 
COVID-19 has impacted the lives of our 
residents, as well as our community’s 
many businesses and organizations. 

Now, thanks to an incredible vaccine 
roll-out, there is renewed hope for a 
return to normalcy, and tremendous 
gratitude for all of the health care 
workers, first responders, and all 
essential workers who have helped get 
us through this pandemic.

Every aspect of City operations was 
impacted by COVID-19, with particular 
focus on adapting to provincial public 
health orders and Worksafe BC 
guidelines as they evolved throughout 
the year, at all times focused on 
keeping the public and our staff safe. 

COVID-19 affected the City financially 
as well. With significant drops in many 
of our usual revenue sources, such as 
gaming funds, recreation programs, 
and interest, as well as increased costs 
for sanitation and various other health 

and safety requirements, the current 
and future budget planning process 
was put under serious strain. The City 
was therefore tremendously grateful 
to receive a $4.149 million Safe Restart 
Grant for Local Government from the 
Province of BC in November 2020. 
Eligible expenses for these funds 
include addressing revenue shortfalls, 
facility operating costs, emergency 
planning and response, protective 
services, and supports for vulnerable 
persons. 

Despite the pandemic, the City made 
progress on numerous important 
initiatives, including the update to 
our community’s Official Community 
Plan (OCP). Following a well-attended 
community Ideas Fair in February, 
consultation plans were completely 
overhauled to focus on virtual 
engagement, progressing to small-in 
person neighbourhood meetings in the 
fall.  The draft OCP will be available this 
summer.

I’m excited to work with Council 
and staff as we make progress on 
Courtenay’s Strategic Priorities over the 
mid and longer term, and look forward 
to engaging with the community. 
Above all, I’m extremely grateful to 
be rejoining this fantastic team and 
providing support in whatever way I 
possibly can as our organization and 
our community continue down the 
road to recovery from the COVID-19 
pandemic.  

Geoff Garbutt 
Chief Administrative Officer
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Organizational Chart

Development Services Planning, subdivisions, building 
inspection, sustainability

Mayor and Council RCMP

Bylaw enforcement, communications, 
human resources, information 
technology

Corporate Support Services

Legislative Services Council, elections, legal, cemetery

As of December 31, 2020

Finance, purchasing, financial 
planning, treasury, payroll & business 
performance 

Financial Services

Public Works Services Asset management, transportation & 
fleet, utilities, parks, civic properties

Recreation, Culture &  
Community Services

Recreation, events, cultural liaison,  
park planning, community services

Engineering Services Infrastructure design, technical 
services, specifications and standards

Courtenay Fire Department
Fire and rescue services, training, 
inspection, investigation,  
public education

Chief Administrative Officer
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Where We AreAbout Courtenay
The City of Courtenay is the largest community in the Comox 
Valley on the east coast of Vancouver Island in the province 
of British Columbia, Canada. The Comox Valley communities 
of Courtenay, Comox and Cumberland are on the traditional 
territory of the K’ómoks First Nation. Courtenay was 
incorporated in 1915.

Courtenay’s lively downtown core features an assortment 
of shops, galleries, and restaurants — many with locally 
produced ingredients from a thriving agricultural community.

The stunning Courtenay Riverway connects downtown 
Courtenay with the City’s southern boundary. This walkway 
borders the Courtenay Estuary, offering visitors an 
opportunity to view a variety of birds, fish, and native plants. 

World-class recreational opportunities await in Courtenay 
and its neighbouring communities, including golf, mountain 
biking, skiing, and hiking. 

population 25,599*

private dwellings 12,013*

population growth, 2011 to 2016*

City area: 33.7 square kilometres
City land area (not including 
Courtenay River or Harbour): 

32.7 square kilometres

density per square kilometre: 
783 people*

*Statistics Canada 2016

5.7

8
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COURTENAY

VANCOUVER ISLAND
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Strategic Priorities 2019 to 2022

We focus on 
organizational 
& governance 
excellence


Area of Control

The policy, works and programming 
matters that fall within Council’s 

jurisdictional authority to act


Area of Concern

Matters of interest outside Council’s 
jurisdictional authority to act


Area of Influence

Matters that fall within shared or agreed 
jurisdiction between Council and another 

government or party

We actively 
pursue vibrant 
economic 
development

We plan & 
invest 
in methods of 
multi-modal 
transportation

We support 
diversity in 
housing & 
reasoned land 
use planning

We continually 
invest in our 
key 
relationships

We proactively 
plan & invest 
in our natural 
& built 
environment

Support and 
encourage 
initiatives to 
improve 
efficiencies

Recognize staff 
capacity is a 
finite resource 
and support 
staff training 
and 
development

Communicate 
appropriately 
with our 
community in 
all decisions we 
make

Responsibly 
provide 
services at 
levels which 
the people we 
serve are 
willing to pay

Value 
community 
safety and 
support our 
protective 
services

Focus on asset 
management 
for sustainable 
service delivery

Look for 
regional 
infrastructure 
solutions for 
shared services

Support actions 
to address 
Climate Change 
mitigation & 
adaptation

Make progress 
on the 
objectives of 
the BC Climate 
Action Charter

Advocate, 
collaborate and 
act to reduce 
air quality 
contaminants

Support social, 
economic & 
environmental 
sustainability 
solutions

Engage with 
businesses and 
the public to 
continue  
revitalizing our 
downtown

Continue to 
support Arts 
and Culture

Work with the 
business and 
development 
sectors to 
mutually 
improve 
efficiencies

Continue to 
explore 
innovative and 
effective 
economic 
development 
opportunities

Move forward 
with 
implementing  
the City's 
Transportation 
Master Plan

Collaborate 
with regional 
and senior 
government 
partners to 
provide 
cost-effective 
transportation 
solutions

Explore 
opportunities 
for Electric 
Vehicle 
Charging 
Stations

Complete an 
update of the 
City's OCP and 
Zoning Bylaws

Assess how 
city-owned 
lands can 
support our 
strategic land 
purchases and 
sales

Identify and 
support 
opportunities  
for lower cost 
housing and 
advocate for 
senior 
government 
support

Encourage and 
support 
housing 
diversity 

Continue to 
develop and 
revisit all 
infrastructure 
master plans

Build on our 
good relations 
with K’ómoks 
First Nation and 
practice 
Reconciliation

Value and 
recognize the 
importance of 
our volunteers

Consider 
effective ways 
to engage with 
and partner for 
the health and 
safety of the 
community

Advocate and 
cooperate with 
local and senior 
governments 
on regional 
issues affecting 
our community

Support 
improving 
accessibility to 
all City services
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Managing our Assets

4,090
planted

trees

40.8 
hectares 

(100+ acres)
mowed grass

36 km 
paved &

unpaved trails

25 
playgrounds

21 parks buildings
58 picnic tables
30 footbridges

156
park benches

166 km 
  roads

796 
fire hydrants

173 km
sidewalks 

1,497
street lights

159
garbage cans

164.7 km 
Sanitary Sewer Main
• Approximately 7,898 connections 
 (estimate based on water)
• 11 Sanitary Lift stations
• 20 pumps

167.2 km 
Storm Main
• 6,797 connections (estimate)
• 4,323 catch basins

173.4 km 
Water Main
• 8,733 connections, 2,110 valves 
• 2,610 water meter setters
• One booster station with five pumps
• Seven pressure reducing valves

497
eet ligh

some with multiple lanes:

351 total 
lane kms

30K 
estimated 

naturally grown
trees on city land
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Maintaining 
Courtenay's  
Essential Services
What do the following things have in common? The water 
coming out of the tap, sewage flushing away, the sidewalks 
underneath our feet, curbside waste collection, the roads 
we drive on, and the parks, trails and open spaces we 
enjoy – all of these are services provided by or through local 
government. 

And even during a pandemic, these essential services must 
be maintained for public health and safety and to keep our 
community moving. 

So, while City of Courtenay facilities closed to the public in 
mid-March 2020, staff continued as many operations as 
possible under the circumstances. City staff provided support 
by phone and email as needed. A limited number of in-
person appontments were available at City Hall, with controls 
in place to ensure Worksafe BC guidelines on maximum 
building capacity during COVID-19 were not exceeded. 

Courtenay Council  
Goes Virtual
Courtenay Council began live streaming meetings in late 
March to replace public in-person attendance at council 
meetings.

Starting in late April, Council meetings went to a full digital 
format with all meeting participants using the Zoom platform. 

Virtual Public Hearings
Online Public Hearings for development applications began 
in December, allowing the public to safely have a say on 
proposed bylaws such as zoning changes and amendments 
to the Official Community Plan. 

Options to participate included online through Zoom or by 
telephone conferencing. 

Digital Building 
Permits
Development Services implemented 
a new system for submitting building 
permits electronically as an interim 
measure during the pandemic. 

•	 Applications for new single family 
homes, new multi-family sites and 
commercial projects are submitted 
electronically with all components 
on the City of Courtenay website

•	 Paper applications are accepted 
for smaller-scale projects such 
as accessory buildings or interior 
house alterations 

•	 Building inspections are still 
conducted on site with appropriate 
safety measures in place

Adapting to COVID-19
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Courtenay Recreation staff and instructors are accustomed 
to being quick on their feet, but 2020 took it to a whole new 
level.

The City of Courtenay's busy recreation department needed 
to continually adapt throughout the year as provincial health 
orders and guidelines evolved. Industry-specific guidance 
was developed by the British Columbia Recreation and Parks 
Association (BCRPA) and other authorities. 

Recreation safety plans and industry guidelines are updated 
regularly: www.courtenay.ca/safetyplans 

Virtual Recreation
At the end of March with facilities closed, instructors began 
producing free videos for the public thanks to funding from 
the Comox Valley Community Foundation. 

Videos for all ages include:

•	 Fitness, yoga, strength training and art for adults

•	 Skateboarding and crafting for teens

•	 Dance, crafts, games and science experiments  
for children

By the end of 2020, the Virtual Recreation series featured 75 
videos created in-house by City staff and local instructors. 
Browse the collection at www.courtenay.ca/virtualrec 

Summer Programs
Courtenay Recreation offered summer camps for children 
and teens as well as outdoor fitness classes for adults 
throughout the summer. 

Fall and Winter Programs
Facilities reopened on a limited basis in the fall for registered 
program participants, Wellness Centre and fitness class 
participants only. 

Courtenay Recreation also developed new reservation 
processes. This allowed workout times and classes to be 
booked though online registration and helped control 
maximum capacity and appropriate physical distancing. The 
reservation system also gathered necessary information 
should contract tracing be required.

In mid-November, adult programs paused while provincial 
health authorities developed new fitness guidelines. As a 
result, adult classes were limited to low-intensity fitness and 
Wellness Centre workouts. 

All children’s programs continued on an individual skill 
development basis.

Courtenay Recreation Adapts to COVID-19
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ZONE

4

ZONE

5
ZONE

3
ZONE

2

ZONE

1

Curbside Collection  
Schedule Rollout 
Changes to regional landfill operations along with overall 
community growth resulted in the need to plan curbside 
collection schedule changes in Courtenay. Preparations for 
the change were underway between Public Works Services 
and Communications staff in collaboration with the collection 
contractor Emterra throughout much of 2020.

The schedule changes were needed following a decision by 
Comox Strathcona Waste Management that landfill facilities 
in the region would be closing on statutory holidays starting 
in 2021. These closures would impact curbside collection as 
waste could not be disposed at the landfill on those days. 

In conjunction with accommodating the regional landfill 
closures, the City also planned a redistribution of collection 
zone boundaries to create an additional collection zone, 
bringing the total number of zones to five. Courtenay has 
experienced significant residential growth in a number of 
neighbourhoods, in particular East Courtenay’s Crown Isle 
and West Courtenay’s The Ridge developments. Excessive 
waste volumes on some days were resulting in logistical and 
operational challenges. 

To address both of these changes, in the spring of 2020 
the City began coordinating a change to an “Add-A-Day” 
collection calendar, with curbside pickup shifting by one day 
after every statutory holiday. With the Add-a-Day collection 
calendar, “day” of pickup became “zone number” as collection 
shifts through the days of the week throughout the year. This 
type of calendar eliminates the need to reschedule collection 
for each statutory holiday.

2021 Residential Waste Collection Guides were distributed to 
households in December 2020, in conjunction with a public 
education campaign in local newspapers, radio, and online. 

To ease the transition to the new schedule, residents were 
encouraged to sign up for reminders by text, email, or 
phone with Courtenay Collects. 2,011 households created 
reminders in 2020.

Learn more: www.courtenay.ca/recycling

1ZONENE
W

RESIDENTIAL WASTECOLLECTION GUIDEJanuary to December 2021Household Garbage • Recycling • Yard Waste

Tel 250.338.1525 • Fax 250.338.1526Email publicworks@courtenay.ca1000 Piercy Ave, Courtenay, BC • V9N 3E6

www.courtenay.ca/recycling

Schedule & Collection Zones 
Separate 
Brochures for 
Each Zone
To ease the transition 
to the new schedule, 
households in each of 
Courtenay's five new 
zones received calendars 
specific to their area. 

Over 9,000 households 
were categorized and 
cross-checked by zone 
using the City's GIS 
mapping tools and 
parcel data. 

We focus on organizational and 
governance excellence
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Courtenay's Engineering Services Department works with consultants in various 
engineering fields, including highly specialized technical services.  

With the previous agreement for consulting services expiring in 2020, known as an 
Engineering Services Agreement (ESA), Engineering staff took the opportunity to 
improve the process for the following types of services:

1. Strategic / Asset Planning Services
2. Infrastructure Design & Construction Administration Services
3. Environmental Assessments and Permitting
4. Archaeological Consulting Services

Applicants could provide services in a single category or multiple categories.

The new agreements will allow the City to benefit from consultants within their 
established scope of expertise, while also improving access to environmental and 
archaeological services.

Staff also updated procurement documents, their submittal format, and evaluation 
processes.

All documentation was streamlined and allowed proponents to highlight 
environmental and social sustainability initiatives, innovations, and practices. These 
documents now serve as a baseline for future procurements.

The City awarded contracts to eight consulting firms across the four service 
categories in September. This ESA has a three year term, with an option to extend 
for up to two additional one year terms.

Audit and 
Certifications
The Engineering Services 
Department passed an audit 
in 2020 under the Engineers 
and Geo-scientists BC’s 
(EGBC) Organizational Quality 
Management (OQM) Program.

The audit process aligns with 
current best practices. Assessment 
included continuing education, 
quality management, code of 
ethics and declared practice areas.

In addition to the audit, three 
Engineering group members 
achieved their Project Management 
Professional certification and one 
member achieved his Certified 
Associate in Project Management 
from the Project Management 
Institute.

Courtenay Recreation upgraded to new software in 2020 powered by Active 
Network, with one major and long-awaited new feature: online registration.

The new system launched just in time for spring registration at the 
beginning of March.

Planning for the project began in 2019 in consultation and collaboration 
with front line staff. Their feedback was essential in developing the new 
system and refining the look and feel for staff and patrons alike.

Patrons were encouraged to create accounts in advance to ease the 
transition to the new software, with staff standing by to assist as needed. 
For those needing additional guidance, three how-to videos were 
developed in-house.

5,119 new accounts were  
created from October 2019 to 
December 2020.

New Software for Courtenay Recreation 

New Engineering Services Agreement
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Official Community Plan Update
Official Community 
Plans (OCPs) are 
documents that identify 
a community vision in 
the face of change. The 
last significant update 
for Courtenay's OCP was 
in 2005. A broad effort 
is underway to update 
the OCP and is expected 
to carry the community 
forward over the next  
10 years. 

The OCP Update began in 2019 with background review and 
the establishment of an OCP Technical Advisory Committee.  

2020 was a busy year for the OCP Update team with 
numerous public feedback sessions and extensive 
consultation with the community. In the midst of the 
pandemic, staff shifted some planned consultation online.

Community Comes Together at Ideas Fair 
An Ideas Fair event in February at the Florence Filberg Centre 
invited the community to learn more about the OCP Update 
and provide feedback on how Courtenay should grow in the 
next 10 years – the last major in-person event for the City of 
Courtenay before COVID-19 impacted public participation.

This interactive event featured listening and watching 
booths, an artist facilitator, “Mayor for a Day” priority setting, 
neighbourhood mapping, and plenty of information panels.

Thank you to the 350 people who attended, contributed 
creative ideas, asked questions, and participated in creative 
exercises. 

Story Map 
and Citizen’s 
Workbook
Two online consultation 
tools launched in June 
to inspire discussion 
on community issues 
such as housing, land 
use, urban design, 
parks and public 
spaces, transportation 
and mobility, the natural environment and climate change, 
economic development, and public services and infrastructure. 

Community members of all ages were encouraged to 
contribute photos to the Online Story Map and complete the 
Exploration Workbook.

Online Interactive Survey
An interactive visual survey in August invited respondents 
to weigh in with their opinion on where we grow, through 
proposed future growth hotspots; as well as how we grow, 
featuring ideas for the downtown core, urban centre, 
neighbourhood hubs, infill, and streets. 782 people filled out 
the survey and offered 1,830 comments.

Walkshops held in accordance with Phase 3 of B.C.'s COVID response plan

In October and November, the City hosted eleven  
in-person neighbourhood walkshops with community 
members across Courtenay.

Through the conversations that emerged, 134 residents 
offered geographically-specific input on and directions 
for the areas of the City in which they live, work, study, or 
play. 

These in-person walkshops were supplemented 
by a series of nine virtual workshops that offered 
complementary opportunities to provide input.

Neighbourhood Walkshops
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OCP Vision and Goals
The following priorities emerged 
from community consultation:

•	 Net-zero greenhouse gas emissions 
by 2050

•	 Inclusivity, equity and reconciliation

•	 Developing within existing urban 
centres and neighbourhoods for 
walkability and to maximize existing 
services

•	 More housing choices such as 
rentals, suites, townhomes and 
small apartments

•	 Transportation investments that 
support walking, cycling and transit

•	 Strong neighbourhoods with unique 
character and identity

•	 More space for and time in nature 
as part of all neighbourhoods

•	 Productive community relationships 
with the City

•	 Economic recovery and success 
that is ecologically and socially 
responsible and emerges from our 
community’s values and sense of 
place

Stakeholder Meetings
The OCP team consulted with 
community stakeholders and local 
government partners for Virtual 
Brainstorming Sessions to hear their 
views on climate change, priorities, 
and ideas for climate action and 
preparedness, linked to pandemic 
recovery. These eight sessions broadly 
matched the emerging goals of the 
OCP. 

The findings from these discussions 
resulted in greater understanding of 
various issues and confirmed strong 
stakeholder support for the draft goals, 
vision and land use concept. 

Growth Map
This map shows both growth and the biodiversity corridor within Courtenay. It is 
estimated that 70 per cent of new growth in Courtenay will take place in these 
highlighted areas.

Draft Plan Coming Soon 
The draft OCP will be available for public comment in summer 2021. 

Learn more: www.courtenay.ca/OCPupdate
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6 
full time
6 in 2019

281 
duty calls
240 in 2019 

8 
provisional
(waitlist)

553 
emergency calls
566 in 2019

50
paid-for-call
46 in 2019

Courtenay Fire Department 

2020 Fire Department By the Numbers

Training and 
COVID-19
The Courtenay Volunteer Fire 
Department’s training division 
provides paid-for-call volunteers with 
opportunities to learn new skills and 
enhance existing skills. 

The COVID-19 pandemic meant the 
department had to rapidly modify 
traditional training activities to comply 
with provincial health orders, Worksafe 
BC and industry guidelines. 

In the spring, the department 
developed in-house training videos 
so volunteer firefighters could 
safely continue their professional 
development at home. 

By summer, there was a return to 
modified hands-on training in smaller 
groups.

Training was delivered to smaller 
groups three nights a week instead of 
the usual weekly practice held prior to 
the pandemic. 

Despite these challenges, new recruits 
from 2019 completed their various 
certifications needed to fully join the 
department, achieving National Fire 
Protection Association (NFPA) 1001 
level 2 certification program, the same 
standard used by departments in large 
urban centres. 

Modified Fire Prevention and Safety Programs
The Courtenay Volunteer Fire Department modified many of their usual 
programs in 2020 in response to the pandemic. 

Fire inspections continued, but with new protocols to protect the health and 
safety of the public and inspectors. Low hazard businesses shifted to a self-
inspection program, using a fire inspection checklist to ensure their properties 
were safe. Fire inspectors continued providing in-person inspections to higher 
hazard buildings, with COVID-19 safety protocols in place. 

Education programs were also impacted by the pandemic. 

The Fire Safety House which usually visits elementary schools could not run 
in 2020. Instead, one of the fire inspectors visited grade three classrooms 
around the Comox Valley in the fall to speak with students about fire safety. 
This program was well received by both students and teachers.

Fire inspectors provided smoke alarm checks on request with COVID -19 
safety protocols in place.
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We proactively invest in our  
natural and built environment

Construction on the South Courtenay Riverway Extension 
between Millard and Beachwood Roads in south Courtenay 
was largely completed by November. The 400-metre-long 
extension was built on the site of an old railway corridor that 
is owned by the City of Courtenay. 

While the new trail is consistent with other existing gravel 
sections of the Courtenay Riverway, this portion of the 
corridor has a unique attribute. The majority of this section 
is bordered by private property on either side, including 
along the waterfront. Trail users are asked to respect private 
property and not trespass on these private lands. The 
corridor boundary is clearly marked by a low rail and signage. 
The nearest beach access remains at Millard Road.

The Courtenay Riverway is one of the Comox Valley’s 
most popular and scenic attractions. It is an important 
recreational connection, encouraging physical activity, active 
transportation, and well-being for residents and visitors alike. 

The existing Riverway Trail extends from 6th Street to Millard 
Road and is approximately 4 km long, depending on the 
route taken. 

The South Courtenay Riverway Extension is the first phase of 
a project with a goal of eventually connecting the Courtenay 
Riverway to the Royston Seaside Trail. 

Future Phases Two and Three
Phase Two, planned between Beachwood Road and Marriott 
Road, is approximately 350 meters long, continuing along the 
historic rail corridor to an undeveloped 1.4 acre waterfront 
City-owned parkland. Phase Two will not be constructed until 
an exit is acquired at Marriott Road.

Phase Three would connect Marriott Road to the regional 
trail at Chinook Road. As the City does not own land in 
this section, this phase will not proceed until a route is 
established. 

South Courtenay Riverway Trail Extension
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Piercy Creek Outfall 
Realignment 
Modifications to storm water infrastructure at Piercy Creek 
are reducing impacts on the environment during heavy rains. 

A newly realigned storm water outfall was constructed near 
Piercy Creek Estates at Cumberland Road and 20th Street.

The Millard Piercy Watershed Stewards (MPWS) had 
recommended changes to the site due to storm water flows 
causing creek bed scouring and increased turbidity at times 
of intense rainfall. A Public Works inspection recommended 
changes to help dissipate the intense energy of storm water 
flows.

City of Courtenay staff worked collaboratively with MPWS, 
the Comox Valley Land Trust, Current Environmental, and 
McElhanney Engineering to develop a design that addressed 
the creek concerns, while still allowing storm water to rapidly 
drain and help prevent flooding.

New features include energy dissipation structures, stream 
riffles, and storm water discharge realignment.

New Bridge for 
Puntledge Park
Puntledge Park is now more accessible thanks to a new 
crossing installed In the spring.

A condition assessment of the old arched bridge indicated 
that it had reached the end of its useful life. After a review of 
various replacement options, upfront construction costs and 
asset life expectancy, a more modern bridge structure was 
chosen.

The new bridge is a level, 40-foot long aluminum and wood 
structure, in a style similar to other pedestrian and cyclist 
river crossings in other parks around the City. 

The design of the new bridge allows an extra foot (30 cm) 
of width between the railings, increasing comfort and 
accessibility for bridge users, including those using strollers 
and mobility aids. The new bridge also meets current safety 
standards.
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Planting Trees
Tree planting is linked to Courtenay's 
Urban Forest Strategy, adopted in 
2019. The strategy seeks to increase 
the tree canopy from 33% to 34 - 40% 
by 2050. Courtenay’s canopy has been 
decreasing over time, with accelerating 
loss in the past four years as our 
community has grown. 

In 2020, the City of Courtenay planted 
61 trees, including:

•	 32 residential street trees and  
three commercial street trees  
Species include Columnar 
Persian Ironwood, Frans Fontaine 
Hornbeam, Dawyck and Purple 
European Beech

•	 26 Park Specimen Trees 
Noteworthy for their aesthetic and 
shade values, species include Garry 
Oak, Dove Tree and Golden Indian 
Bean Tree

Tree planting in 2020 was lower than 
anticipated due to the pandemic. 

For more information on how the Urban 
Forest Strategy will guide how we as a 
community protect and manage trees 
on public and private land, visit  
www.courtenay.ca/urbanforest

New Green 
Space at  
The Ridge
There's a new park on 
Harbourview Boulevard at Fraser 
Road in South Courtenay. 

12 specimen trees were planted 
in this green space, which is next 
to an existing forested area and 
Millard Creek. In addition, eight 
new street trees line the entrance 
to Harbourview Boulevard.

New Use for Old Dingwall Well 
As part of the Sandwick Waterworks 
Conversion Project in north Courtenay 
completed in 2019, the City of 
Courtenay acquired a well on Dingwall 
Road. The well was previously a 
drinking water source through the 
former Sandwick Water Works District 
that has since disbanded. 

In 2020, this well was converted to 
a non-potable fill station for City 
operations. Water from the well will 
be used for irrigation, street sweeping, 
and sewer maintenance.

This re-use of existing infrastructure 
will increase efficiency for City 
operations. It eliminates the need 
for crews to return to the Public 
Works Yard to refill their trucks, and 
reduces reliance on potable water for 
operational needs.

The conversion included the complete 
replacement of above ground 
mechanical infrastructure, upgrading 
the electrical wiring, and updating the 
well house interior and exterior.
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Alternate Approval Processes (AAP)

5th Street Bridge
Constructed in 1960, the Fifth Street Bridge requires 
structural improvements, new coating to repair and prevent 
corrosion, and deck repairs. 

Engineers specializing in bridge construction and 
rehabilitation determined the bridge has not yet reached 
the end of its useful life, and upgrades are necessary to 
preserve its integrity and prevent deterioration. Bridge repair 
was strongly recommended as a cost-effective, faster, less 
disruptive option compared to full bridge replacement.

Consultation with the community helped inform the 
project plan and traffic management strategy, in addition 
to significant stakeholder outreach. Detailed design work 
evolved through 2019 and 2020. 

Total project costs are estimated at $6.5 million, funded 
through a combination of $1.96 million in grant funding, 
$0.94 million in reserves, and the remaining $3.4 million in 
borrowing.  

Active construction started in April 2021 and will continue for 
six months.

Greenwood Trunk 
The Greenwood Trunk is the top priority project identified 
in the City of Courtenay's Sewer Master Plan. New sanitary 
sewer mains off Anderton Road and a new sewer pump 
station will re-route a portion of East Courtenay’s sewage 
flows to an existing portion of the Greenwood Trunk Sewer 
constructed by the Comox Valley Regional District in 2017.

This project is required to accommodate current and 
anticipated development in the area.

The project includes:
•	 600 metres of gravel roadway

•	 1.6 km of gravity main

•	 1.7 km of pressure main

•	 other supporting works

The contractor mobilized on site in June, with construction 
expected to continue until July 2021. Much of the project will 
occur on private property, with the main construction access 
to the site via a farm gate on Anderton Road.

An Alternate Approval Process (AAP) 
gives eligible electors (residents 
or non-resident property owners) 
the opportunity to express their 
opposition to borrowing. At least 10 
per cent of eligible electors would 
need to register their opposition to 
the proposed bylaws.

Council sought elector consent in 
2020 for funding two major projects.

Greenwood Trunk AAP 
The Greenwood Trunk AAP launched 
in January. The project will increase 
capacity in the sewer system for 
current and future development in 
East Courtenay. $3 million in borrowing 
was required to proceed with 
construction. One elector response 
form was received by the deadline, 
and Council approved the loan 
authorization bylaw in March.

5th Street Bridge AAP 
The 5th Street Bridge AAP launched 
in September to measure public 
support for borrowing $3.4 million 
to rehabilitate the 5th Street Bridge. 

52 elector respons forms were 
received by the deadline. Council 
approved the  borrowing bylaw in 
December.
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Funding for Electric Vehicle 
Charging Stations

Elevator 
Upgrades
Elevators at the Florence Filberg 
Centre and the Centre for the Arts 
have undergone renovations and 
modernization, including new:
•	 Hydraulic pumps/lines

•	 Controllers

•	 Electrical

•	 LED lighting

•	 Interior finishes

CV Art Gallery staffer Deanna 
loading equipment into the 

upgraded elevator.                                
Photo by Cassidy Gehmlich

Courtenay took part in a successful 
joint local and regional government 
application with 11 other mid-
Vancouver Island jurisdictions for 
grant funding to install electric vehicle 
charging stations throughout Mid 
Vancouver Island. The initiative was led 
by the Regional District of Nanaimo.

As a result, the Province of British 
Columbia and Government of Canada 
approved funding for 28 new Level 2 
electric vehicle (EV) charging stations in 
the mid-island region. Of the ten new 
stations for the Comox Valley, three will 
be installed in the City of Courtenay.

Approximately $230,000 from the 
Province’s CleanBC Communities 
Fund and $275,000 from the federal 
government’s Green Infrastructure 
Stream of the Investing in Canada 
Infrastructure Program (ICIP) will 
be available for the project, with 
participating local governments 
together investing more than $183,000. 

With grant funding in place, 
participating mid-island governments 
will collaborate on the final site 
locations as well as a joint Request 
for Proposals for the charging 
station supply and installation. The 
installations are expected to begin 
sometime in 2021.

Courtenay's EV charging stations will 
be installed in the following locations:

•	 6th Street & England Avenue 
Downtown Courtenay Business 
Improvement Association (DCBIA): 
dual port station 

•	 Lewis Centre: dual port station

•	 City Hall: single port station

This expansion of EV charging stations 
across Vancouver Island will create 
greater opportunities for clean 
transportation, helping to make electric 
cars a viable option for residents while 
reducing pollution and supporting local 
green energy solutions.
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We actively pursue vibrant 
economic growth

Sidewalk Cafés
Courtenay Council approved changes to the sidewalk café program in 
May to expand outdoor seating capacity in downtown Courtenay. The 
change was intended to help downtown restaurants meet physical 
distancing requirements, while increasing potential income and 
offsetting challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The addition to the existing sidewalk café program allowed restaurants 
to build a sidewalk patio across the sidewalk and spanning the full 
width of their business, or potentially even wider if adjacent businesses 
indicate their support. Previously, sidewalk café options were required 
to be immediately adjacent to the storefront.

Restaurants are required to maintain a minimum 1.5 metre-wide 
sidewalk for pedestrians. Translucent plastic shields may be installed 
on top of patio fencing, and the patio may occupy up to three on-street 
parking stalls, an increase from the previous two-stall maximum.

Three permits were approved in 2020 including one for a pedestrian 
walkway in the parking area and two for use of the parking area for a 
sidewalk café.

The sidewalk café program has been running since 2016. The program 
was developed through a downtown revitalization process, which 
included a series of consultation events with the downtown business 
community and the public. The resulting Downtown Courtenay 
Playbook: A Partnership Action Plan presents a long-term 
overarching vision and goals, along with a list of actions and broad 
timelines to help achieve them.

Temporary Patios
Courtenay Council granted flexibility throughout 
the City for restaurants needing additional space 
for seating on private land as a result of COVID-19 
public health restrictions.

The temporary patio program suspended 
enforcement of off-street parking requirements to 
allow patio areas and seating, with the following 
criteria:

The restaurant's total number of seats should not 
increase over their usual capacity as a result of this 
program.

A patio may occupy up to half of a business's 
required parking. At a typical 100 seat restaurant, 
for example, up to eight of the required 17 parking 
stalls may be used.

Structures may include fencing, shields and ramps. 
The intent is to keep the patios temporary and also 
avoid requirements for other City processes such 
as development permits which could be required if 
more substantial structures were involved.

The patios must not be located over an existing 
landscaped area or be in a yard beside a 
residential area to avoid potential impacts such as 
noise or loss of privacy. Hours of operation must 
be between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m. Businesses are not 
required to submit an application for a temporary 
patio.

This program was originally scheduled to expire in 
November 2020 but was extended to November 
1, 2021. 

Other Council measures to support the local 
business community in response to COVID-19 
included extending the deadline for annual 
flat commercial utility billing, approved by 
Council in late March 2020.
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We value multi-modal 
transportation in our community

Lest We Forget 
In the fall, Mayor Bob Wells and 
representatives from the Courtenay, 
Comox, and Cumberland Legions 
and RCMP Inspector Mike Kurvers 
unveiled new signage at both ends 
of Veterans Memorial Parkway. 

The signs feature 
poppies and the 
phrase, "Lest We 
Forget" – a  
permanent  
expression of 
gratitude for 
veterans.

Veterans Memorial Parkway
The City of Courtenay's major road 
maintenance project of the year was 
on Veterans Memorial Parkway, an 
important corridor that connects the 
north end of the City to the hospital, 
the college, and other east Courtenay 
residential and business areas. 

The project added the final “lift,” or 
top layer, of asphalt to the existing 
pavement between the North Island 
Highway and Mission Road. The project 
improved conditions for cyclists by 
smoothing the transition between the 
curb and gutter, and added new road 
markings for dedicated bike lanes. 

The work also extended the sidewalk 
from Valley Vista Estates to the 
existing gravel multi-use pathway, and 
improved the bus stop at Caledon 
Crescent. New pedestrian flashing 
lights were installed at the crosswalk at 
Caledon Crescent. 

A new road marking installation 
technique was used for the project. 

The method involves inlaying 
thermoplastic paint into a groove in the 
pavement. The resulting road markings 
are highly visible and extremely durable, 
lasting on average 7 to 10 years before 
requiring any maintenance, or around 
twice as long as the next most durable 
road painting method. This low-
maintenance roadway will mean lower 
long-term costs for taxpayers, and 
fewer future travel delays for all modes 
of transportation.

A pilot project in the summer and 
fall tested new flexible delineator 
posts along the edge of the bike 
lane to visually separate bikes and 
motor vehicles. The delineators were 
recommended in Courtenay's Cycling 
Network Plan for higher-volume roads 
where space is available. 

The city is assessing the performance 
and longevity of the delineators in 
consultation with cycling groups to 
determine where and how these posts 
could potentially be redeployed. 
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6th Street Active Transportation Bridge
A 6th Street Multi-Use Bridge would provide a dedicated 
cycling and pedestrian connection between downtown and 
Simms Millennium Park as well as a connection to the future 
cycling network along 6th Street, Anderton Avenue, the 
Courtenay Riverway Trail, and the pathway connection to the 
Lewis Centre. 

A detailed analysis of various options was conducted in 
2019 and 2020. Four design alternatives were originally 
considered, then narrowed down to two shortlisted options: 
a cable-stayed bridge and a network arch bridge. 

Following a careful review of numerous factors, including 
structural and environmental considerations, cost, comfort 
for bridge users, and aesthetics, Council's preferred design 
was a symmetrical cable-stayed bridge.

The cable-stayed bridge was determined to have a smaller 
environmental footprint with fewer trees removed in 
Simms Park, less construction impacts, a more attractive 
appearance, and lower overall costs. 

Half the cost of the bridge study was covered by a $29,300 
grant from the Federation of Canadian Municipalities. 

Several community studies have highlighted the need for 
improved connectivity across the Courtenay River for multi-
modal transportation, including the Comox Valley Regional 
Growth Strategy, the Downtown Courtenay Playbook 
downtown vitalization plan adopted in 2016, and the Parks 
and Recreation Master Plan, Connecting Courtenay 
Transportation Master Plan, and Cycling Network Plan 
adopted in 2019. 

Total project costs are estimated at $4.988 million, including 
lighting and a public art installation. The City of Courtenay is 
actively seeking grant funding opportunities to support the 
project. 

To learn more about the 6th Street Bridge Bridge Project visit 
www.courtenay.ca/sixthstreetbridge  
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We support diversity in housing 
and reasoned land use planning

2020 Courtenay Development Statistics

83 subdivision
lots approved
compared to 
213 in 2019

214 Building 
Permits issued

compared to 
283 in 2019

$158.4 million 
in total value 

of Building Permits
compared to 

95.2 million in 2019

$
1756 Business 
Licences issued 

compared to 
2244 in 2019

Multi-residential 
Developments Experience 
Growth
In 2020, the City of Courtenay issued 19 permits for a total of 253 units for 
multi-residential dwellings in Courtenay. This is compared to 15 permits totaling 
240 units in 2019. The total construction value for 2020 permits is just over $40 
million dollars.  

Multi-residential Development Benefits 
Given a lack of housing options, a crisis in affordability, a changing and aging 
demographic and a 2020 regional housing needs assessment that identifies 
a need for more forms of housing than the common single family dwelling, 
Courtenay Council supports diversity in housing as a strategic priority. 

Housing need is demonstrated by the vacancy rate in Courtenay. The rate as of 
October 2020 was 1.1% and this is around where it has remained for the last 
several years. A healthy rental market is about 5 – 6% vacancy. It is expected 
that large apartment developments currently under construction in Courtenay 
will help boost the vacancy rate to a healthier level. 

This context and the Official Community Plan (OCP) goal to create more 
compact and complete neighbourhoods means that multi-residential 
development makes a lot of sense. Multi-residential housing design is varied 
and can include anything from small four-plexes designed to look like a 
traditional single family home to multi-story apartment style buildings and 
anything in between. 

Larger multi-residential buildings are  encouraged in neighbourhood 
centres close to employment, transit and schools. This allows for more travel 
options like walking, cycling and taking the bus. When near a concentration 
of local businesses, multi-residential homes can also contribute to a vibrant 
commercial and social atmosphere. 
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In November 2019 the City began preparing for the Energy 
Step Code to consider energy efficiency measures in the new 
building bylaw. 

The City collaborated with the Community Energy Association 
and British Columbia Institute of Technology (BCIT) to 
provide a day of instruction for local builders interested in 
learning how to construct to the BC Energy Step Code. The 
session was presented by a Comox Valley Certified Energy 
Advisor.

Two weeks later the City hosted a drop in style open house 
for the building community. Around 45 builders, developers 
and designers provided feedback and gained knowledge 
to help move forward with the implementation of the 
Energy Step Code. Four Certified Energy Advisors, RDH 
Building Science Inc. (building envelope specialists) and 
a representative from Fortis BC were also in attendance 
to provide support and information on best practices for 
building to the Step Code and to share information about 
rebate programs.

Staff at the Town of Comox and the City of Courtenay 
proposed a coordinated approach that would see both 
municipalities implementing the Energy Step Code with 
similar schedules. 

Updates to the new building  
regulation bylaw include:
•	 Implementation of BC Energy Step Code to identify 

energy efficiency targets.

•	 New building permit fees to offset the cost of 
administering permit applications and inspections.

•	 Changes to existing fees for permits, building moves, 
demo permits etc.

•	 Restructure and increase to security deposit fees.

•	 Solid fuel burning appliances are prohibited in new 
construction and requirements to upgrade to new 
higher energy appliances when replacement is 
required.

Updated Building 
Bylaw
A new building regulation bylaw adopted in 2020 
implemented the BC Energy Step Code and updated and 
aligned our bylaw and processes with industry standard 
practices. 

The City’s former building regulation bylaw was adopted just 
over 16 years ago and was based on the Municipal Insurance 
Association of British Columbia’s (MIABC) 2002 Core building 
bylaw. 

The MIABC core bylaws contain sections that are not 
intended to be altered as they are designed to allow local 
governments to regulate construction while mitigating risk. 
Those sections were left untouched in this bylaw update. 
However, extensive consideration was put into review and 
edits of other sections of the bylaw to ensure it reflects the 
realities and established processes in Courtenay.

One of the drivers behind MIABC’s recent update of the core 
bylaws was the introduction of the Building Act in 2015. The 
Building Act is British Columbia’s first act dedicated solely to 
building and construction and was developed to modernize 
BC’s regulatory system through establishing consistency in 
regulation, competencies for those involved with building 
and construction and providing better opportunities for 
innovation. 

The Building Act has broad reaching powers that limit the 
authority of local government bylaws to establish technical 
requirements in excess of those addressed in the building 
code.

Courtenay’s building bylaw does not contain any specific 
requirements of a technical nature that would be in conflict 
with the Building Act. 
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We invest in our key relationships

A new warming centre pilot project for people experiencing 
homelessness opened in January in a City-owned facility at 
685 Cliffe Avenue. 

The centre is run by Comox Valley Coalition to End 
Homelessness (CVCEH) with support from the City of 
Courtenay. The City provides heat, electricity and building 
maintenance valued at approximately $3,000 a month.

While Connect was originally expected to operate until the 
end of March, the City issued several extensions in response 
to the pandemic and the continued need, culminating in a 
one-year lease renewal in October. 

Along with providing people an escape from inclement 
weather and a place to go during the day, the centre's 
outreach workers help people access housing and living 
supports, and with tasks such as filling out forms. 

The centre also alleviates pressure on other community 
spaces such as the Courtenay Library and other public 

Connect Warming Centre Opens

Photo by Jake Fernandes, 97.3 The Eagle

facilities that often act as informal warming centre spaces. 

The initiative is part of an overall strategy to improve 
coordination between agencies on homelessness issues. 

Representatives from the Comox Valley Coalition to End 
Homelessness, City of Courtenay Council and staff, and Comox 
Valley R.C.M.P. are in regular contact to ensure clear lines of 
communication and discuss challenges and potential solutions.

In March 2020, Courtenay Council approved release of 
emergency funding of $17,500 to the Comox Valley Coalition 
to End Homelessness (CVCEH) to support their response 
efforts during the COVID-19 pandemic. The request was 
funded from provincial gaming funds.
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Water and Sewer 
Services Agreement 
A long-awaited project to provide water and sanitary sewer 
utility services to K’ómoks First Nation IR No.2 lands on 
Condensory Road was completed in 2020.

Construction on the first phase of the project began in May, 
and continued until late June. The second phase of the 
project took place in the fall of 2020.

The City of Courtenay and K’ómoks First Nation signed 
a detailed servicing agreement in March 2016. The non-
binding agreement in principle to provide water and sanitary 
sewer to the Condensory Road property was developed in 
consultation with the Comox Valley Regional District. 

The agreement is based on cost-recovery for municipal 
services. Neither the City of Courtenay nor the K’ómoks First 
Nation will subsidize services for the others’ benefit. K’ómoks 
First Nation is reimbursing the City of Courtenay for the 
capital costs incurred by the City for the service.

The City of Courtenay typically does not provide municipal 
services beyond the City boundary, and the agreement is not 
a precedent for providing municipal services to any other 
rural areas outside the City.  

Temporary Space for Hamper Program 

Courtenay Adopts 
United Nations 
Declaration on Rights 
of Indigenous Peoples 
(UNDRIP)
The City of Courtenay adopted the United Nations 
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP), 
pledging to use it as the framework for indigenous 
reconciliation.

Courtenay will be incorporating UNDRIP principles in the 
development of the updated Official Community Plan, and 
working with K’ómoks First Nation to incorporate UNDRIP 
into planning and decision-making, as well as develop a 
program to educate City staff about UNDRIP and the history 
and culture of the K’ómoks First Nation.

Canada’s Truth and Reconciliation Commission listed UNDRIP 
as “the framework for reconciliation at all levels and across all 
sectors of Canadian Society” in 2015. 

The Government of British Columbia passed the Declaration 
on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act based on UNDRIP 
principles unanimously in November 2019 and passed 
legislation to align UNDRIP with federal laws in December 
2020.

The City of Courtenay identified building on good relations 
with K’ómoks First Nation and practicing reconciliation as a 
strategic priority for 2019 to 2022. 

Courtenay was one of the first local governments in BC to 
adopt UNDRIP principles.

The City of Courtenay provided temporary storage and work 
space in December for the “Sharing the Christmas Spirit” 
Hamper Program. This non-profit registered charity provides 
Christmas hampers to approximately 400-600 families in the 
Comox Valley each year.

The organization used the Conference Hall at the Florence 
Filberg Centre for the month of December to store and 
organize hampers, and as a home base for hamper 
distribution.

The City cannot typically offer space of this nature as 
facilities are heavily booked throughout the year. With fewer 
programs and seasonal gatherings due to COVID-19 this 
offered a unique opportunity for the hamper program to 
access a large space for their operations. 

The Hamper Program provided their own insurance, with 
work performed by a team of volunteers and materials 
supplied by donations. 
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Sid Williams Theatre
Although in person audiences were suspended throughout 
most of 2020, the Sid Williams Theatre (SWT) team was able 
to pivot facility services, artistic, educational and outreach 
programming by offering virtual events through video 
recording and livestreaming. 

Fall rentals and presentations included:

•	 Western Edge Theatre (Nanaimo)
•	 Ballet Victoria – series
•	 Comox Valley Community Foundation Gala
•	 Courtenay Little Theatre series
•	 Adjudication videos for several local dance schools
•	 Youth Media Project Film Screening (co-presented with 

C.V. Art Gallery)

Early 2021 Virtual Events resulting from 2020 facility and 
service adaptations:

•	 Vancouver Island Symphony – series,
•	 Courtenay Little Theatre – pandemic project
•	 Valley Songwriters

Cultural organizations
From the very start of the pandemic, culture has been a 
source of resiliency. People continue turning to culture for 
comfort, connection and well-being. 

The Sid Williams Theatre, Comox Valley Centre For the Arts, 
and the Courtenay & District Museum and Paleontology 
Centre are located in buildings owned and maintained by the 
City of Courtenay and managed by the cultural organizations.

In 2020, the City of Courtenay signed an agreement with 
Comox Valley Arts that identified their role as a centralized 
resource for the local arts and culture industry.

Even when our doors close, #culturedoesntstop

Courtenay and District 
Museum Society

Learning with Finley 
video series

Courtenay Little Theatre’s
Pandemic Diaries at the SWT

The Courtenay Museum closed in March due to the 
pandemic, and staff used this time to renovate, clean, 
and reorganize the facility for physical distancing between 
visitors. These steps were key to the museum reopening in 
July.

Fossil tours took place in the summer for individual families 
or small groups.

Staff also pivoted to online learning for educational 
programs. A new children's video series, Learning with 
Finley, follows a curious fish who wants to learn all about 
museum exhibits and collections.

In the fall, Zoom class experiences began for students 
including Environment and Human Settlement, Fossils, 
Geology, and Interpreter.
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Comox Valley  
Art Gallery
In a time of pandemic, the Comox Valley Art Gallery found 
ways to safely present art, meaningfully engage the public, 
and create a sense of connection between people in time of 
social isolation.

Highlights of the year:

•	 Virtual artwork, events, publications and artist talks

•	 Installed public artwork and expanded the traditional 
Indigenous garden on the CVAG outdoor plaza

•	 Conducted artistic programming outdoors, including 
walking tours where participants listened to audio 
soundscapes

•	 Installed screens in the windows and outside speakers so 
that people could watch videos and listen to soundscapes 
outdoors

•	 Installed plexiglass barriers in the shop and provided gloves 
to visitors wishing to handle works for sale by local artists

•	 Increased lighting in the CVAG window gallery to combat 
glare and increase the visibility of artwork 

•	 Presented interactive artwork that responded to touchless 
sensors

Foroozan Installation
Comox Valley Art Gallery

Comox Valley Arts 
posters

Comox Valley Arts
Comox Valley Arts maintains ongoing engagement with 
creators, community groups, businesses, cornerstone 
facilities and organizations, as well as all levels of 
government. 

2020 was a difficult year, with a halt on most revenue-
generating projects and greatly reduced volunteer hours. 

Despite these challenges, Comox Valley Arts was able to shift 
many projects to online environments.

Highlights of the year:

•	 Grab & Go Art & Poetry kits -150+ kits created and 
provided at no cost to Warming Centre & Transition 
House

•	 Family Art Kits – in collaboration with the City of 
Courtenay, provided 300 kits to local families

•	 Business Workshops Series – more than 25 workshops 
over 2020/21 so far

•	 Arts Guide – online searchable database and galleries of 
regional artists

•	 Studio Tour – virtual version – 5 day virtual tour in 2020

•	 Poet Laureate/Poetry/Literacy – ongoing published poetry 
and working on local anthology

•	 Arts Exhibitions and Presentations – Virtual and in-person 
– virtual exhibit for annual YQQ show

•	 Community Loan – equipment and supplies – multiple 
loans of gear through the year for audio/video needs
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Important 
2021 
Property Tax 
Dates
courtenay.ca/tax
For payment options, visit:

courtenay.ca/billpayments

2021 Financial Plan
Municipalities are required by the Community Charter to adopt a balanced five 
year financial plan by May 15 every year.

The City’s financial plan includes all revenues and expenses in the general, 
water, and sewer funds. This includes operating costs to maintain infrastructure 
and provide services to our citizens, as well as the costs associated with major 
capital projects. 

Property tax rates are set during the Financial Plan process based on how 
much revenue is required to maintain Council-approved levels of services to 
our citizens. 

Public feedback is sought through open Council budget sessions and the City 
website, prior to final adoption.

View Courtenay’s Financial Plans at www.courtenay.ca/financialplan 

Financial Reporting

Late May 2021 •	 2021 Property Tax Notices mailed

July 2, 2021 •	 Tax payments due 

•	 Provincial Home Owner Grant applications due to 
the province

•	 Tax Deferment applications due to the province

•	 Last day to avoid 10% penalty on unpaid current 
taxes and unclaimed grants 

July 3, 2021 •	 10% penalty added to all unpaid current taxes and 
unclaimed grants

August 1, 2021 •	 Tax Installment Preauthorized Payment Plan (TIPP)  
deductions start for the next taxation year

September 27, 2021 •	 Statutory property tax sale for all properties three 
years in arrears of taxes. 

December 31, 2021 •	 Last day to pay current year taxes prior to rollover 
into arrears category. (Arrears and delinquent 
category taxes are subject to a daily interest penalty) 
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Property Tax Exemptions

 
Registered Owners

Exempt 
Amount of City 
Property Taxes

Aaron House Ministries $2,491
Alano Club of Courtenay 3,611
Canadian Red Cross Society 1,603
City of Courtenay - Leased Office Space 3,207
Comox Valley Boys and Girls Club 1,564
Comox Valley Child Development Association 14,319
Comox Valley Curling Club 12,266
Comox Valley Family Services Association 6,974
Comox Valley Kiwanis Village Society 11,958
Comox Valley Pregnancy Care Centre 1,784
Comox Valley Recovery Centre Society 3,714
Comox Valley Transition Society 6,056
Courtenay & District Historical Soc. In Trust 2,219
Courtenay Elks Lodge 2,071
Dawn to Dawn Action on Homelessness Society 398
Eureka Support Society 3,456

Glacier View Lodge Society 42,219
Habitat for Humanity V.I. North Society 372
John Howard Society of North Island       4,377
L'Arche Comox Valley 5,357
M’Akola Housing Society 14,842
Nature Trust of B.C. - Sandpiper Park 6,495
Nature Trust of B.C. – Arden Rd 2,896
Old Church Theatre Society 5,936
Royal Cdn. Legion, Courtenay Br. (Pacific) No. 17 7,714
Salvation Army                                           2,118
Saltwater Education Society 1,936
Stepping Stones Recovery House for Women Soc. 1,702
Upper Island Women of Native Ancestry 786
Wachiay Friendship Centre 4,107
Youth for Christ Comox Valley 672

Total Non-Profit Annual Tax Exemptions $179,220

Every year, the City of Courtenay receives applications from 
non-profit organizations that qualify for tax exemption under 
the requirements of Provincial legislation. For 2020, the 
following exemptions were approved by Council.

Comox Valley Centre of the Arts $25,352
Courtenay & District Museum 18,653
Courtenay Airpark 93,222
Courtenay Marina 10,866
Morrison Nature Park 2,133
Sid Williams Theatre 18,420

Total City owned properties $168,646 

Council adopted a five-year Permissive Tax Bylaw to exempt the 
following City owned properties, managed/occupied by non-profit 
societies. The 2020 value of properties exempt is as follows:

Anglican Synod Diocese of BC  $1,858 
Bishop of Victoria-Catholic Church  904 
Central Evangelical Free Church                                                  2,179 
Courtenay Baptist Church  884 
Elim Gospel Hall  1,917 
Foursquare Gospel Church of Canada  4,806 
Grace Baptist Church  140 
Kingdom Hall of Jehovah Witnesses  575 
LDS Church  1,555 
Lutheran Church  699 
River Heights Church Society  945 
Salvation Army Canada West  434 
Seventh Day Adventist Church  572 
St. George's Church  696 
Valley United Pentecostal Church  520 

Total Permissive Surrounding Statutory 
Land Tax Exemptions

 $18,684

Total Permissive Exemptions - Overall  $390,870  

Provincial Legislation (the Community Charter) statutorily 
exempts the building and the land on which the builiding 
stands, for places of worship, specific seniors’ housing, 
hospitals and private schools. Council may, by bylaw, 
permissively exempt the land surrounding the building. 
In 2020, Council adopted a bylaw to exempt the following 
surrounding lands:

Council adopted a ten year Permissive Tax Bylaw to exempt the 
following City owned properties, managed/occupied by non-
profit societies.The 2020 value of properties exempt is as follows:

Island Corridor Foundation $24,320

Total Island Corridor Foundation exemptions $24,320 
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Financial Statements
The Corporation of the City of Courtenay

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The preparation of information in these Consolidated 
Financial Statements is the responsibility of management. 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards and are outlined under “Significant Accounting 
Policies” in the notes to the financial statements.

Management maintains a system of internal accounting 
controls to provide reasonable assurance that assets are 

safeguarded and that transactions are authorized, recorded, 
and reported properly. Management also maintains a 
program of proper business compliance.

MNP LLP, the City’s independent auditors, have audited 
the accompanying financial statements. Their report 
accompanies this statement.

Auditor's Report

467 CUMBERLAND ROAD, COURTENAY B.C., V9N 2C5
  T: 250.338.5464  F: 250.338.0609  MNP.ca 

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Mayor and Council of the City of Courtenay: 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the City of Courtenay (the "City"), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020, and the consolidated statements of operations, changes in net
financial assets and cash flows and related schedules for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the City as at December 31, 2020, and the results of its consolidated operations, changes in net
financial assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information, consisting of the annual report, which is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. 

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.

___________________________________________________________________________________
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Auditor's Report - continued

467 CUMBERLAND ROAD, COURTENAY B.C., V9N 2C5
  T: 250.338.5464  F: 250.338.0609  MNP.ca 

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Mayor and Council of the City of Courtenay: 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the City of Courtenay (the "City"), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020, and the consolidated statements of operations, changes in net
financial assets and cash flows and related schedules for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the City as at December 31, 2020, and the results of its consolidated operations, changes in net
financial assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information, consisting of the annual report, which is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. 

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.

___________________________________________________________________________________

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the

City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention

in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,

future events or conditions may cause the City to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Courtenay, British Columbia

April 26, 2021 Chartered Professional Accountants
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

The Corporation of the City of Courtenay

2020 2019

FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 Cash on Hand and on Deposit (Schedule 5)  $27,062,580  $23,580,932 
 Receivables (Note 1j)  3,763,857  3,512,739 
 Term Deposits (Schedule 5)  35,807,364  26,013,489 

 66,633,801  53,107,160 

 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 Accounts Payable (Note 1k)  10,888,816  8,267,696 
 Trust and Other Deposits  6,049,909  6,150,397 
 Deferred Revenue - Development Cost Charges (Note 7)  8,885,487  7,138,260 
 Deferred Revenue - Other (Note 9)  2,709,157  2,851,913 
 Long-Term Debt (Schedule 4)  11,569,753  10,043,266 

 40,103,122  34,451,532 

 NET FINANCIAL ASSETS  26,530,679  18,655,628 

 NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 Inventories  225,880  226,853 
 Prepaid Expenses  337,153  378,060 
 Tangible Capital Assets (Note 13 & Schedule 3)  163,018,502  159,448,579 

 163,581,535  160,053,492 

 ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (Schedule 2)  $190,112,214  $178,709,120 

Consolidated Statement Of Financial Position - Statement A
As at December 31, 2020

Contingent Liabilities and Commitments (Note 2)
Significant event (Note 16)
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The Corporation of the City of Courtenay

 2020 Budget  2020  2019 

(Note 14) 

REVENUE 

Taxes for Municipal Purposes  29,410,700  29,339,207  27,967,952 
Sale of Services  16,470,200  16,897,139  16,594,427 
Revenue from Own Sources  3,688,000  3,248,232  4,194,740 
Federal Transfers  1,173,800  1,133,150  2,252,626 
Provincial Transfers  1,797,800  4,905,398  1,542,312 
Other Local Government Transfers  458,500  214,431  318,565 
Contributions  417,200  3,972,685  11,524,248 
DCC Revenue  -  399,898  394,111 
Investment Income and Taxation Penalties  687,200  912,018  1,485,653 
Other  389,500  418,646  380,782 
Gain on Sale of Tangible Capital Assets  301,000  873,017  370,490 

TOTAL REVENUE  54,793,900  62,313,821  67,025,906 

EXPENSES 

General Government Services  6,774,313  5,904,766  5,938,079 
Protective Services  10,903,029  10,328,314  9,412,733 
Transportation Services  8,113,194  7,792,469  8,604,498 
Sewer and Water Facilities  13,807,810  12,751,544  13,018,155 
Environmental Health Services  3,925,099  3,748,053  3,691,353 
Public Health and Welfare Services  388,197  398,208  367,008 
Environmental Development Services  1,683,767  1,500,510  1,473,938 
Recreational and Cultural Services  10,450,092  8,486,863  9,761,840 

TOTAL EXPENSES  56,045,500  50,910,727  52,267,604 

ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) (Schedule 1)  (1,251,600)  11,403,094  14,758,302 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR  178,709,120  178,709,120  163,950,818 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS AT END OF YEAR  177,457,520  190,112,214  178,709,120 

Consolidated Statement Of Operations - Statement B
For the year ended December 31, 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

The Corporation of the City of Courtenay

 2020 Budget 2020 2019

 (Note 14) 

ANNUAL SURPLUS  (1,251,600)  $11,403,094  $14,758,302 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets  (11,780,600)  (6,526,289)  (10,255,188)
Amortization of tangible capital assets  5,450,000  6,303,193  5,899,542 
Gains and other adjustments to  
tangible capital assets

 -  (702,017)  (58,358)

Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets  - 1,031,484 444,725 
Developer tangible capital asset contribution  -  (3,676,300)  (9,601,154)

 (6,330,600)  (3,569,929)  (13,570,433)

Acquisition of supplies inventories  -  (546,879)  (759,264)
Acquisition of prepaid expense  -  (1,165,761)  (783,939)
Consumption of supplies inventories  -  547,857  739,716 
Use of prepaid expense  -  1,206,669  958,186 

 -  41,886  154,699 

CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS  (7,582,200)  7,875,051  1,342,568 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 18,655,628 18,655,628 17,313,060 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS AT END OF YEAR  $11,073,428  $26,530,679  $18,655,628 

Consolidated Statement Of Change in Net Financial Assets - Statement C
For the year ended December 31, 2020
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The Corporation of the City of Courtenay

 2020  2019

CASH PROVIDED BY (APPLIED TO) FINANCING TRANSACTIONS 

OPERATING TRANSACTIONS 

Annual Surplus  11,403,094  14,758,302 

Changes in non-cash items
Amortization  6,303,193  5,899,542 
Change in receivables  (251,118)  1,390,743 
Change in accounts payable  2,621,120  (1,596,131)
Change in trust and other deposits  (100,488)  (44,803)
Change in deferred revenue  1,604,477  1,334,230 
Change in inventories  973  (19,543)
Change in prepaids  40,907  174,248 
Net gains and other adjustments to tangible capital assets  (702,017)  (58,358)
Developer Tangible Capital Asset Contribution  (3,676,300)  (9,601,154)
Actuarial adjustment  (537,979)  (480,011)

  16,705,862  11,757,065 

 CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS 

 Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets  (6,526,289)  (10,255,188)
 Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets  1,031,484  444,725 

  (5,494,805)  (9,810,463)

INVESTING TRANSACTIONS 

Purchase of term deposits  (9,793,875)  2,195,617 

Cash provided by (applied to) Investing Transactions  (9,793,875)  2,195,617 

FINANCING TRANSACTIONS 

Repayment of long-term debt  (935,534)  (934,846)
Long-term debt proceeds  3,000,000  - 

Cash applied to Financing Transactions  2,064,466  (934,846)

INCREASE IN CASH ON HAND AND ON DEPOSIT  3,481,648  3,207,373 

CASH ON HAND AND ON DEPOSIT AT BEGINNING OF YEAR  23,580,932  20,373,559 

CASH ON HAND AND ON DEPOSIT AT END OF YEAR  $27,062,580  $23,580,932 

 Interest paid on outstanding debt and included in annual surplus above  $502,306  $579,943 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flow - Statement D
For the year ended December 31, 2020
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The Corporation of the City of Courtenay (“the City”) was incorporated in 1915 under the provisions of the British Columbia 
Municipal Act. Its principal activities are the provision of local government services to the residents of the Municipality.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Presentation
It is the policy of the City to follow Canadian public sector accounting standards and to apply such principles consistently. 
The consolidated financial statements include the operations of General, Water Utility, Sewer, Capital, and Reserve Funds. 
Transactions between these funds have been eliminated on consolidation. The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared using guidelines issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board of CPA Canada. The financial resources 
and operations of the City have been consolidated for financial statement purposes and include the accounts of all of the 
funds and equity in tangible capital assets of the City. As part of the supplementary information, the resources and opera-
tion of the City are segregated into various funds for accounting and financial reporting purposes, each being treated as a 
separate entity with responsibility for the stewardship of the assets allocated to it.

(b) Revenue and Expense Recognition
Expenses are recorded in the period in which the goods or services are acquired and a liability is incurred.
Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of tangible capital assets.
Revenue is recorded in the period in which the transactions or events that gave rise to the revenue occur. Amounts 
that have been received from non-government sources in advance of services being rendered are recorded as deferred 
revenue until the City discharges the obligations that led to the collection of funds. Following are the types of revenue 
received and a description of their recognition:
Taxes for Municipal Purposes are recognized in the year levied.
Sale of Services are recognized in the year that the service is provided or the amount is earned, provided the amount 
can be estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 
Revenues from own sources are recognized in the period in which the transactions or events that gave rise to the rev-
enue occur or are earned, provided the amount can be estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
The City recognizes a government transfer as revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria, if any, 
have been met. A government transfer with stipulations giving rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability 
is recognized as a liability. In such circumstances, the City recognizes revenue as the liability is settled. Transfers of non-
depreciable assets are recognized in revenue when received or receivable.
Contributions are recorded when the event giving rise to the contribution occurs.
DCC Revenue is recorded in the year that it is used to fund a capital project and has been authorized by bylaw.
Investment income, taxation penalties, and actuarial earnings are recorded in the year they are earned.

(c) Accrued Payroll Benefits
Earned but unpaid vacation is fully accrued and recorded in the consolidated financial statements.
Post employment benefits are accrued and recorded in the consolidated financial statements. This amount is provided 
by an Actuary that the City has engaged. 

(d) Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards re-
quires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and dis-
closure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accounts Receivable are stated after evaluation of their collectabil-
ity. Post employment benefits are calculated by an Actuary. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of tangible 
capital assets. These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and as adjustments become necessary they are 
reported in earnings in the periods in which they become known. Liabilities for contaminated sites are estimated based on 
the best information available regarding potentially contaminated sites that the City of Courtenay is responsible for. 
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(e) Non-Financial Assets 
Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision of services. They 
have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.

(f) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and replacement cost.

(g) Tangible Capital Assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, net of capital asset disposals, write-downs and amortization. Tangible capital 
asset expenditures exceeding the following thresholds per major category are capitalized. The average useful life is ap-
plied straight line to calculate amortization.
Major Asset Category Threshold Average Useful Life

Land $1 Indefinite
Land Improvements $10,000 Varies from 10 to 40 years
Building $10,000 Varies from 25 to 60 years
Vehicles, Machinery/Equipment $5,000 to $10,000 Varies from 5 to 25 years
Engineering Structures
 Roads $5,000 to $50,000 Varies from 10 to 60 years
 Water $5,000 to $10,000 Varies from 8 to 80 years
 Sewer $10,000 Varies from 8 to 60 years

 Other – Includes Storm $10,000 Varies from 25 to 75 years

Other Tangible Capital Assets (includes IT software) $5,000 5 years

Carrying costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or development activity, excluding interest costs, are capital-
ized to the point in time the asset is substantially complete and ready for use. Contributed tangible capital assets are recorded 
at their fair value on the date of contribution. Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is in use.

(h) Financial Instruments
Financial Instruments consist of cash on hand and on deposit, term deposits, receivables, accounts payable, trusts and 
other deposits, and long-term debt. It is management’s opinion that the Municipality is not exposed to significant inter-
est, currency, exchange, or credit risk arising from these financial instruments.

(i) Debt Charges
Interest payments are charged against current fund balances in the period they become payable and have been accrued 
to December 31, 2020. Actuarial adjustments are offset against interest charged. Principal payments are applied directly 
to loan balances in the period they accrue.

(j) Receivables
Following is a breakdown of receivables outstanding at December 31, 2020 with 2019 comparatives:

2020 2019
Federal Government  $137,384  $60,462 
Provincial Government  353,991  655,431 
Regional and other Local Governments  808,102  266,936 
Property Taxes  1,015,435  1,190,930 

Other  1,448,945  1,338,980 

Total Receivables  $3,763,857  $3,512,739 
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(k) Accounts Payable
Following is a breakdown of accounts payable and accrued liabilities outstanding at December 31, 2020 with 2019 comparatives:

2020 2019 
Federal Government  $2,900,445  $1,985,207 
Provincial Government  100,214  227,672 
Regional and other Local Governments  2,182,594  920,250 
Employee Retirement Benefits (Note 11)  1,150,700  1,138,000 

Trade and accrued liabilities  4,554,863  3,996,567 

Total Accounts Payable  $10,888,816  $8,267,696 

(l) Liability for Contaminated Sites
A liability for remediation of a contaminated site is recognized at the best estimate of the amount required to remediate the 
contaminated site when; contamination exceeding an environmental standard exists, the City of Courtenay is either directly 
responsible or accepts responsibility, it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up, and a reasonable estimate 
of the amount is determinable. The best estimate of the liability includes all costs directly attributable to remediation activities 
and is reduced by expected net recoveries based on information available at December 31, 2020.
At each financial reporting date, the City of Courtenay reviews the carrying amount of the liability. Any revisions required to 
the amount previously recognized is accounted for in the period when revisions are made. The City of Courtenay continues to 
recognize the liability until it is settled or otherwise extinguished. Disbursements made to settle the liability are deducted from 
the reported liability when they are made.

2. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
(a) Regional District debt is, under the provisions of the Local Government Act (Section 836), a direct, joint and several liability 

of the District and each member municipality within the District, including the Corporation of the City of Courtenay. Readers 
are referred to the Comox Valley Regional District 2020 Audited Financial Statements for specific information and detail.

(b) Principal repayments on long-term debt in each of the next five years are estimated as follows: 
2021  1,003,032 
2022  928,150 
2023  850,236 
2024  828,149 

2025  671,616 

 $4,281,183 

(c) The Municipality is obligated to collect and transmit the tax levies of the following bodies:

Provincial Government – Schools 
Comox Valley Regional District 
Comox-Strathcona Regional Hospital District 
Municipal Finance Authority 
British Columbia Assessment Authority 
Vancouver Island Regional Library 
Downtown Courtenay Business Improvement Area
These levies are not included in the revenues of the Municipality.

(d) As at December 31, 2020, there existed outstanding claims against the City. These claims have been referred to legal counsel and 
to the City’s liability insurers. It is not possible to determine the City’s potential liability, if any, with respect to these matters. Man-
agement has determined that any potential liabilities arising from these outstanding claims are not significant.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2020
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3. PENSION LIABILITY
The employer and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan). The board of trust-
ees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of the assets 
and administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits provided 
are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2019, the plan has about 213,000 active members and approximately 106,000 
retired members. Active members include approximately 41,000 contributors from local government.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of plan fund-
ing. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s 
calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member 
and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may be adjusted 
for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2018, indicated a $2.866 billion funding surplus 
for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. 

The City of Courtenay paid $1,222,922 (2019 - $1,138,310) for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2020.

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2021, with results available in 2022.

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during the 
fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued 
assets for the plan in aggregate with the result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets 
and cost to the individual employers participating in the plan.

4. HOST FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AGREEMENT
The City of Courtenay is a host community for a casino gaming facility operated under agreement with the British Columbia 
Lottery Corporation. The City receives a percentage of the net gaming income generated by the Chances Courtenay Gaming 
Centre to be used for public benefit through a quarterly unrestricted transfer from the Province of British Columbia.          

5. FEDERAL GAS TAX AGREEMENT FUNDS 
Gas Tax Agreement funding is provided by the Government of Canada. The use of the funding is established by a funding 
agreement between the local government and the Union of British Columbia Municipalities. Gas Tax Agreement funding 
may be used towards designated public transit, community energy, water, wastewater, solid waste and capacity building 
projects, as specified in the funding agreements. 

The City of Courtenay received the first contribution of Gas Tax funding in 2005 and reports the balance in a General Fund 
Reserve – New Works Community Gas Tax Funds (Schedule 2) until it is used to fund the specified projects outlined in the 
funding agreement. Interest is accrued and allocated monthly to the balance.

Following is a schedule of Gas Tax receipts and disbursements received in 2020 with comparatives to 2019.  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2020
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2020 2019

Opening balance of unspent funds  $2,796,599  $1,954,704 

Additions:
Amounts received during the year 1,133,150 2,252,626
Interest earned  14,024  44,193 

Deductions:
Amount spent on projects  (1,392,812)  (1,454,924)

Closing balance of unspent funds  $2,550,961  $2,796,599 

6. PROVINCIAL COVID-19 – SAFE RESTART GRANT
COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant for Local Governments was provided to local governments to assist with the increased 
operating costs and revenue short falls as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. Covid-19 Safe Restart Grant may be used 
towards specific eligible costs for funding such as addressing revenue short falls, facility reopening and operating costs, 
emergency planning and response costs, bylaw enforcement and protective services, computer and other technology 
costs, services for vulnerable persons.

The City of Courtenay received $4,149,000 in Covid-19 Safe Restart Grant and reports the balance in a General Fund 
Reserve – New Works Covid-19 Restart Grant (Schedule 2) until it is used to fund the eligible costs. Interest is accrued and 
allocated monthly to the balance.

Following is a schedule of Covid-19 Safe Restart Grant receipts and disbursements received in 2020.

2020

Safe Restart Grant Received $4,149,000

Additions:
Interest earned  527 

Deductions:
Gaming Revenue Shortfall - Infrastructure Reserve contribution  (320,000)
Gaming Revenue Shortfall - Police Contract  (405,000)
Community Services Revenue Shortfalls  (1,351,789)
Other Revenue Shortfalls  (67,492)

Closing balance of unspent funds  $2,005,246 
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7. DEFERRED REVENUE - DEVELOPMENT COST CHARGES

In order to conform to the Public Sector Accounting Standards of CPA Canada, the unspent development cost charges 
have been recorded as a liability. Following is a breakdown of cash increases and decreases for the General, Water, and 
Sewer development costs charge reserves for 2020 and 2019.

2020 Development Cost Charge Reserves

General  
BL #2840

Water Utility  
BL #2840

Sewer Utility  
BL #2840

Sewer Utility  
BL #1638

2020 Total

Balance Forward  $5,848,556  $376,436  $878,444  $34,823  $7,138,260 

Increases
Interest  28,751  1,897  4,509  166  35,323 
Other Contributions  1,452,393  159,663  499,746  2,111,802 

 1,481,144  161,559  504,255  166  2,147,125 

Decreases
Revenue Recognized to Fund Capital Projects  (138,600)  -  (261,298)  -  (399,898)

Reclassifications, redemptions, refunds  -  -  -  -  - 

 (138,600)  -  (261,298)  -  (399,898)

Ending Balance Deferred Revenue - DCC  $7,191,100  $537,996  $1,121,402  $34,989  $8,885,487 

2019 Development Cost Charge Reserves

General  
BL #2840

Water Utility  
BL #2840

Sewer Utility  
BL #2840

Sewer Utility  
BL #1638

2019 Total

Balance Forward  $5,115,312  $489,706  $619,834  $34,254  $6,259,106 

Increases
Interest  94,671  8,629  13,943  569  117,813 
Other Contributions  1,104,938  118,567  360,427  1,583,932 

 1,199,609  127,196  374,370  569  1,701,744 

Decreases
Revenue Recognized to Fund Capital Projects  (281,411)  (112,700)  -  (394,111)

Reclassifications, redemptions, refunds  (184,954)  (240,466)  (3,060)  -  (428,479)

 (466,365)  (240,466)  (115,760)  -  (822,590)

Ending Balance Deferred Revenue - DCC  $5,848,556  $376,436  $878,444  $34,823  $7,138,260 
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8. TRUST AND ENDOWMENT FUNDS

(a) The Cemetery Perpetual Care Fund has been assigned to the City to be administered as directed by statute. The City 
holds the assets for the benefit of, and stands in fiduciary relationship to, the beneficiary. Following is a summary of the 
financial position and activities for 2020 and 2019, which has been excluded from the City’s consolidated financial state-
ments.

CEMETERY PERPETUAL CARE FUND  
FINANCIAL POSITION

 
2020

 
2019

CEMETERY PERPETUAL CARE FUND  
FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

 
2020

 
2019

Financial Assets Revenue

Cash on Hand  $122,996  $114,331 Fees Levied  $14,296  $16,331 
Investments - MFA  248,799  246,720 Interest Revenue  3,358  6,910 

Liabilities Expenditure

Interest Payable to City  3,358  6,910 Interest Expense  3,358  6,910 

Net Financial Position  $368,437  $354,141 Excess Revenue over Expenditure  $14,296  $16,331 
 

9. DEFERRED REVENUE – OTHER
Other Deferred Revenue recorded in the Liability section of the City’s Consolidated Financial Statements consists of the rev-
enues related to business license revenue levied and to be recognized in future years, Government transfers received prior 
to revenue recognition criteria being met. Following is a breakdown of the change in this balance for 2020 and 2019:

2020 2019

Opening Balance  $2,851,913  $2,396,837 

Additions to Deferred Revenue  1,880,852  2,016,817 
Revenue Recognized  (2,023,608)  (1,561,741)

Ending Balance Deferred Revenue Other  $2,709,157  $2,851,913 

10. MFA DEBT RESERVE FUNDS
The City secures its long term borrowing through the Municipal Finance Authority. As a condition of these borrowings a 
portion of the debenture proceeds are retained by the Authority as a debt reserve fund. These funds are not reported in 
the financial statements as they are eliminated upon consolidation. As at December 31, 2020 the City had debt reserve 
funds of $363,044 ($342,394 in 2019).

11. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT LIABILITY
Employees with 10 years of continuous service retiring under the terms of the Municipal Superannuation Act are entitled 
to a payout of up to 72 days of their accumulated unused sick leave bank and up to a maximum of 8 additional severance 
days for each year of service in which the employee used no sick leave. Additionally, upon death of the employee, the bank, 
up to a maximum of 72 days, will be payable to the employee’s life benefit beneficiary. 

The value of this liability is calculated by an Actuary engaged by the City and reflects the likelihood that all eligible City em-
ployees will become entitled to this benefit. Actuarial valuation assumptions for 2020 were based on an interest (discount) 
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rate of 2.00% per annum (2019 – 2.60%) and an inflation rate of 2.5% for both 2020 and 2019. The total estimated em-
ployee retirement benefit liability at December 31, 2020 is $1,150,700 ($1,138,000 in 2019) and is included in the accounts 
payable balance on Statement A. Following is a breakdown of the benefit liability:

2020 2019 

Accrued benefit liability at beginning of 
year

 $1,138,000  $1,023,500 

Expense  151,500  145,200 
Benefit Payments  (138,800)  (30,700)

Accrued benefit liability at end of year  $1,150,700  $1,138,000 

12. CONSOLIDATED SEGMENT DISCLOSURE BY SERVICE
The City of Courtenay Consolidated Financial Statements includes the financial activities of various services made available 
to the community. Following is a description of the types of services included in each of the main service segments of the 
City’s financial statements. A detailed summary of the 2020 revenues and expenses with 2019 comparatives for each seg-
ment can be found in Schedule 1 of the accompanying financial statements.

General Government Services: Provide services related to general corporate and legislative administration as well as 
human resources, information technology, financial management, and revenues received from the Province related to 
gaming.

Protective Services Includes services: related to providing fire protection, bylaw enforcement, and building inspection to 
the City, as well as the City’s share of expenses related to providing police protection to the Comox Valley.

Transportation Services: Includes the delivery of municipal public works services related to planning, development and 
maintenance of roadway systems, street lighting, and other public works and engineering related services.

Environmental Health Services: Includes services related to the collection of garbage, recycling, and yard waste, as well 
as environmental testing and monitoring.

Public Health and Welfare Services: Includes cemetery services.

Environmental Development Services: Includes services related to planning, zoning, sustainability, and hotel taxes, as 
well as actions relating to homelessness.

Recreational and Cultural Services: Provides recreation and leisure services to the community and includes parks and 
facilities that allow for fitness, aquatic, cultural, and other activities for the public to enjoy. 

Water Utility Services: Provides for the delivery of water to users and includes the planning, development and mainte-
nance of the City’s water infrastructure.

Sewer Utility Services: Provides for the delivery of sewerage removal and includes the planning, development and 
maintenance of the City’s sewer infrastructure.

13. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSET DETAILS (See Schedule 3 for further details)

Contributed capital assets received and recognized in the year from developers, for various infrastructure works and related 
land and parks, and recorded in the consolidated financial statements in 2020 is $3,676,300 ($9,601,154 in 2019).

Tangible capital assets include land under the City’s roads, recorded at a nominal amount.

 Art and historic treasures are displayed at various city facilities and consist of paintings, historical photographs, sculptures, 
carvings, and other cultural artefacts. These items have not been included in tangible capital assets due to the inability of 
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estimating future benefits associated with such property.

14. RESTATEMENT OF 2020 BUDGET 
The budget amounts presented throughout these consolidated financial statements are based upon the Five Year Fi-
nancial Plan approved by Council on April 6, 2020 except in regard to budget amounts for amortization, tangible capital 
assets, and the use of debt, reserves and prior year surpluses.

The summary below shows the adjustments to the April 6, 2020 budget approved by Council and reflected in these con-
solidated financial statements:

Adjustments to 2020 Budgeted Annual Surplus

Budgeted Surplus per Council approved Budget  $   

Purchase of Capital Assets  11,780,600 
Amortization Budgeted  (5,450,000)
Transfer from Reserves  (7,199,100)
Transfer to Reserves  4,381,200 
Use of Prior Year Surplus  (2,699,800)
Debt Issues in Financial Plan  (3,000,000)
Debt principle repayments in Financial Plan  935,500 

Budgeted Deficit per Consolidated Statement of Operations  $(1,251,600)

15. CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS 
Following is the breakdown of the contractual rights at December 31, 2020.

Contractual Right  
with

Description of  
Contractual Right

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Total

Courtenay Fire  
Protection District

Courtenay Fire  
Protection  437,732  530,904  541,522  552,352  563,399  $2,625,910 

Comox Valley  
Regional District

Greater Merville 
Fire Protection  256,140  -    -    -    -    $256,140 

16. SIGNIFICANT EVENT 
During the year, there was an outbreak of COVID-19 (coronavirus), which has had a significant impact on organizations 
through the restrictions put in place by the Canadian, provincial and municipal governments regarding travel, municipal 
operations and isolation/quarantine orders. At this time, the extent of the impact the COVID-19 outbreak may have on 
the City is unknown as it will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and that cannot be predicted with 
confidence. These uncertainties arise from the inability to predict the ultimate geographical spread of the disease, and the 
duration of the outbreak, including the duration of travel restrictions, office closures or disruptions, and quarantine/isola-
tion measures that are currently, or may be put, in place by Canada and other countries to fight the virus. 
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General  
Government Services Protective Services

Transportation  
Services

Environmental  
Health Services

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
REVENUE
Taxation  26,070,165  24,761,750  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Sales of Services  -    -    810,924  845,895  -    -    3,565,976  3,437,934 
Revenue from Own Sources  -    -    1,558,585  1,006,190  85,353  146,581  -    -   
Government Transfers  4,734,232  1,442,553  95,602  19,700  1,150,750  2,285,588  -    -   
Transfer from Other 
Funds

 -    -    -  -  -    -   

Other Revenue  126,362  83,439  -    -    142,320  134,623  -    -   
Other Contributions  16,330  1,000  -    -    3,341,783  9,371,824  -    -   
Interest Earned  836,741  1,208,264  8,133  25,106  27,194  91,493  -    -   
Gain on sale of TCA  543,006  445  -  -  51,159  368,856  -    -   

Total Revenues 32,326,836  27,497,451  2,473,244  1,896,891  4,798,559 12,398,965  3,565,976  3,437,934 

EXPENSES
Salaries and Benefits  4,193,372  3,998,399  2,408,795  2,328,039  2,611,800  2,872,417  68,570  76,722 
Goods and Services  1,234,537  1,341,527  7,577,103  6,740,553  1,698,043  2,515,574  3,242,308  3,242,629 
Amortization Expense  331,243  310,475  328,646  340,679  3,317,490  3,063,889  376,526  345,952 
Debt Servicing  (32,641)  (17,523)  (6,468)  (3,348)  13,565  87,422  -    -   
Other Expenditures  178,255  305,201  2,418  6,810  460  296  58,580  26,050 
Loss on Disposal of TCA  -    -    17,820  -    151,111  64,900  2,069  -   

Total Expenses  5,904,766  5,938,079  10,328,314  9,412,733  7,792,469  8,604,498  3,748,053  3,691,353 

ANNUAL SURPLUS 
(DEFICIT)

$26,422,070 $21,559,372 $(7,855,070) $(7,515,842) $(2,993,910)  $3,794,467  $(182,077)  $(253,419)

(Note 12) 
Page 1 of 3
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(Note 12) 
Page 2 of 3

Public Health  
& Welfare Services

Environmental 
Development 

Services

Recreational and 
Cultural Services Water Utility Services

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
REVENUE
Taxation  -    -    -    -    -    -    1,202,909  1,175,166 
Sales of Services  -    -    -    -    -    -    7,079,917  7,043,027 
Revenue from Own Sources  -    -    576,244  607,291  659,500  2,003,554  300,417  369,231 
Government Transfers  64,511  178,200  69,588  52,797  138,296  124,665  -    10,000 
Transfer from Other 
Funds

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Other Revenue  149,964  162,720  -  -  -  -  -    -   
Other Contributions  -    -    114,105  116,608  73,171  112,063  484,667  1,205,524 
Interest Earned  -    -    6,242  18,959  5,604  20,503  11,371  49,549 
Gain on sale of TCA  -    -    -    -    1,150  1,189  277,702  -   

Total Revenues  214,475  340,920  766,179  795,655  877,721  2,261,974  9,356,983  9,852,497 

EXPENSES
Salaries and Benefits  220,078  231,953  1,121,195  1,040,755  4,614,311  5,206,229  900,393  989,438 
Goods and Services  139,555  100,244  275,340  237,863  2,527,101  3,236,955  5,280,017  5,490,460 
Amortization Expense  38,575  34,811  1,267  2,533  1,021,205  973,555  521,187  478,666 
Debt Servicing  -    -    -    -    (4,645)  30,617  (2,711)  (1,399)
Other Expenditures  -    -    102,708  192,787  328,891  314,338  -  - 
Loss on Disposal of TCA  -    -    -    -    -  146  -  2,636 

Total Expenses  398,208  367,008  1,500,510  1,473,938  8,486,863  9,761,840  6,698,886  6,959,801 

 ANNUAL SURPLUS 
(DEFICIT) 

$(183,733)  $(26,088)  $(734,331) $(678,283) $(7,609,142)  $(7,499,866)  $2,658,097  $2,892,696 

Page 55 of 142



City of Courtenay | 2020 Annual Report54

The Corporation of the City of Courtenay

Consolidated Schedule of Segment Disclosure by Service - Schedule 1 (continued)
Year ended December 31, 2020

(Note 12) 
Page 3 of 3

Sewer Utility Services  Consolidated
2020 2019 2020 2019

REVENUE

Taxation  2,066,133  2,031,036  29,339,207  27,967,952 
Sales of Services  5,440,322  5,267,571  16,897,139  16,594,427 
Revenue from Own Sources  68,133  61,893  3,248,232  4,194,740 
Government Transfers  -    -    6,252,979  4,113,503 
Transfer from Other 
Funds

 -    -   

Other Revenue  -    -    418,646  380,782 
Other Contributions  342,527  1,111,340  4,372,583  11,918,359 
Interest Earned  16,733  71,779  912,018  1,485,653 
Proceeds on sale of TCA  -    -    873,017  370,490 

Total Revenues  7,933,848  8,543,619  62,313,821  67,025,906 

EXPENSES
Salaries and Benefits  462,808  583,588  16,601,322  17,327,540 
Goods and Services  785,889  731,676  22,759,893  23,637,481 
Amortization Expense  367,054  348,982  6,303,193  5,899,542 
Debt Servicing  (2,773)  4,167  (35,673)  99,936 
Other Expenditures  4,439,680  4,145,491  5,110,992  4,990,973 
Loss on Disposal of TCA  -  244,450  171,000  312,132 

Total Expenses  6,052,658  6,058,354  50,910,727  52,267,604 

 ANNUAL SURPLUS  $1,881,190  $2,485,265  $11,403,094  $14,758,302 
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The Corporation of the City of Courtenay

2020 2019

Surplus
Invested in Tangible Capital Assets  $151,448,746  $149,405,314 
General Operating Fund  7,804,685  4,512,740 
General Capital Fund  1,216,307  1,426,306 
Water Utility Operating Fund  3,857,366  2,356,860 
Water Utility Capital Fund  108,869  108,869 
Sewer Utility Operating Fund  3,221,528  2,369,239 
Sewer Utility Capital Fund  21,706  21,706 
Gaming Fund  1,683,464  1,831,240 

Total Surplus  $169,362,671  162,032,274 

Reserves
General Fund Reserves:
Machinery and Equipment  1,656,316  1,431,296 
Land Sale  778,916  390,704 
New Works and Equipment  3,547,179  3,319,838 
New Works - Community Gas Tax Funds (Note 5)  2,550,961  2,796,599 
New Works - Covid-19 Restart Grant (Note 6)  2,005,246  -   
General Asset Management Reserve  697,285  467,278 
Risk Reserve  104,525  104,030 
Public Parking  61,224  58,145 
Parkland Acquisition  311,255  309,781 
Police Contingency Reserve  511,413  670,590 
Assessment Appeal  319,390  200,771 
Housing Amenity  876,475  775,213 
Tree Reserve  94,690  58,482 
Amenity  563,386  613,943 

 14,078,261  11,196,670 

Water Utility Reserves:
Water Utility  1,742,065  1,676,652 
Water Asset Management Reserve  1,037,014  358,106 
Machinery and Equipment  281,448  250,229 

 3,060,527  2,284,987 

Sewer Utility Reserves:
Sewer Utility  566,687  539,110 
Sewer Asset Management Reserve  2,397,909  2,087,695 
Machinery and Equipment  646,159  568,384 

 3,610,755  3,195,189 

Total Reserves  20,749,543  16,676,846 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (Statement A)  $190,112,214  $178,709,120 

Consolidated Schedule Of Accumulated Surplus & Reserves - Schedule 2
Year ended December 31, 2020
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The Corporation of the City of Courtenay

 
 
Bylaw Number 

 
Maturity 

Date

 
Interest  

Rate

Principal  
Outstanding  

Dec 31/19

Current  
Year  

Borrowing

Actuarial  
Adjustment/  

Princ. Reduct.

Principal 
Outstanding  

Dec 31/20

General Capital Fund

Debenture Debt
2139 Library 2021  1.75  373,010  -    181,956  191,054 
2227 Fifth Street Bridge 2023  2.90  149,363  -    35,173  114,190 
2304 Lerwick Road Ext. Prop Acquisition 2029  2.85  547,876  -    43,559  504,317 
2227 City Hall Retaining Wall 2020  1.55  13,837  -    13,837  - 
2354 Repaving Program 2025  5.10  177,204  -    27,706  149,498 
2355 Lerwick Road Extension 2030  0.91  392,543  -    29,107  363,436 
2356 City Hall Renovation 2020  1.55  73,509  -    73,509  - 
2425 Lerwick Road Construction 2026  1.75  317,982  -    40,260  277,722 
2453 Police Property Acquisition 2026  1.75  631,327  -    79,932  551,395 
2458 Public Works Maintenance Building 2022  2.25  393,112  -    125,933  267,179 
2539 Capital Infrastructure Work 2023  2.25  1,261,266  -    232,864  1,028,402 
2538 Native Sons Hall Renovation 2025  1.28  282,890  -    42,649  240,241 
2680 Lewis Centre Renovation 2027  2.90  2,543,312  -    276,020  2,267,292 
2681 Infrastructure Works - Road Paving 2027  2.90  944,659  -    102,522  842,137 

TOTAL GENERAL CAPITAL FUND  8,101,890  -    1,305,027  6,796,863 

Water Capital Fund

Debenture Debt
2424 Water Extension - Lerwick Road 2026  1.75  264,985  -    33,550  231,435 

TOTAL WATER CAPITAL FUND  264,985  -    33,550  231,435 

Sewer Capital Fund

Debenture Debt
2305 Sewer Extension 2029  2.85  410,907  -    32,669  378,238 
2353 Sewer Extension 2030  0.91  1,104,727  -    81,914  1,022,813 
2423 Sewer Extension - Lerwick Road 2026  1.75  160,757  -    20,353  140,404 
2985 Sewer Extension - Greenwood Trunk 2045 0.91  3,000,000  3,000,000 

TOTAL SEWER CAPITAL FUND  1,676,391  3,000,000  134,936  4,541,456 

TOTAL ALL CAPITAL FUNDS  10,043,266  3,000,000  1,473,513 11,569,753 

Consolidated Schedule of Debenture and Other Long-Term Debt - Schedule 4
Year ended December 31, 2020
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The Corporation of the City of Courtenay

Consolidated Schedule Of Investments - Schedule 5
For the year ended December 31, 2020

2020 2019

GENERAL OPERATING FUND
Cash on Hand

GAMING FUND

 $26,041,686  $22,049,977 

Cash on Hand  1,020,894  1,530,955 

Total Cash on Hand and on Deposit  $27,062,580  $23,580,932 

GENERAL OPERATING FUND TERM DEPOSITS

Municipal Finance Authority, Money Market Fund at fluctuating rate, no maturity date  15,019,377  17,578 
The Bank of Nova Scotia, various guaranteed investment certificates  20,787,987  25,995,911 

Total Term Deposits  35,807,364  26,013,489 

TOTAL CASH AND INVESTMENTS  $62,869,944  $49,594,421 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 

STAFF REPORT 
 

 

To:  Council  File No.:  1660-20 

From: Chief Administrative Officer Date:  June 28, 2021 

Subject: 2022/2023 RCMP Municipal Policing Contract:  Approval in Principle 

 

PURPOSE:  

The purpose of this report is to consider and provide “approval in principle” of the RCMP’s Municipal 

Contract Policing Multi-Year Financial Plan for the 2022/2023 contract year. 

 

POLICY ANALYSIS:  

In April 2012, the City of Courtenay renewed its Provincial Municipal Police Unit Agreement for the 

employment of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police in the provision of policing services within the City.  This 

Agreement has a twenty year term and will provide policing in the City until March 31, 2032.  In order to 

secure the 10% Federal share of the Contract, Council’s “approval in principle” of the contract expenditure 

cap is required each year.  

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

For the RCMP 2022/2023 Contract Year, Council has been requested to consider providing “approval in 

principle” of an RCMP Municipal Policing Expenditure in the amount of $6,831,280 for a complement of 31.4 

members. 

 

During the upcoming 2022 budget deliberations, Council will have the opportunity to revisit this “approval 

in principle” and provide “final” approval by the end of April 2022 for the 2022/23 policing contract year.  

 

CAO RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That based on the June 28, 2021 staff report “2022/2023 RCMP Municipal Policing Contract:  Approval in 

Principle”, Council approve OPTION 1 which provides approval in principle for an expenditure of $6,831,280 

of which Courtenay is responsible for 90% ($6,193,789).  

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Geoff Garbutt, M.Pl., MCIP, RPP 
Chief Administrative Officer 
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BACKGROUND: 

The Comox Valley RCMP detachment is a combined Provincial/Municipal detachment which provides police 

protection services for the entire Comox valley.  Of the 64 members currently staffed in the detachment, 21 

are funded by the Province, 31.4 are funded by Courtenay, and 11.6 are funded by Comox. 

 

DISCUSSION: 

Under the terms of the Municipal Policing Agreement, the letter of “approval in principle” for the 2022/2023 

Municipal Policing Expenditure Cap is due by June 15, 2021. The Municipal Contract Policing Multi-Year 

Financial Plan – (2022/23) was received by the City on June 8, 2021. In order to provide Municipalities enough 

time to review and report to Council an extension has been grated until June 30, 2021.  

 

The following cost drivers impacting the 2022/23 RCMP contract are: 

 Estimated pay increases of 2.5% for RCMP members; 

 Estimated pay increases for Public Service Employees (PSE) is set at 1.25%;  

 Increased machinery and equipment costs; 

 Indirect costs such as Member Pension, CPP, EI and Division Administration; 

 

Table 1 identifies the estimated 2022/2023 budget impact for the City including Accommodation, furniture 
and PSE staff costs.   

 

TABLE 1 – City of Courtenay, RCMP Contract Expenditure Cap:  2022/23 Projections 

 
 

Approved  
2021/22 

CAP 

Approved  
2021/22 
Budget 

Estimated 
2022/23 

CAP 

Estimated 
2022/23 
Budget 

Contract Strength  31.4 31.4 31.4 31.4 
Funded Strength 31.4 29.4 31.4 29.4 
 
Expenditure Cap (100%) 

 
$6,561,243 

 
$6,215,444 

 
$6,831,280 

 
$6,448,520 

 
Courtenay Share (90%) of Contract costs 

 
$5,950,756 

 
$5,593,900 

 
$6,193,789 

 
$5,803,668 

Municipal Costs – 100% (Accommodation, furniture, PSE staff) 
*note 2 FTE PSE moved to CUPE and reflected in budget figures* 

$1,103,112 $   858,300 $1,090,157 $   836,960 

Total Municipal Policing Costs $7,053,868 $6,452,200 $7,283,946 $6,640,628 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

The City utilizes Gaming Fund revenues ($405,000), Provincial Traffic Fine/Police Contingency Reserve 

($270,000) funds, Prior Year’s surplus dollars ($200,000) and general property tax dollars to pay for RCMP 

policing costs.  To more accurately reflect anticipated actual costs, the City also budgets for a projected 

“position vacancy pattern” to more accurately project anticipated costs and avoid over taxation for this 

service. For 2021, the budgeted anticipated vacancy pattern of 2 members has been incorporated into the 
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budget. Actual experienced vacancy pattern over the past few years has been 4 to 5 members, however is 

expected to reduce in the near future.  

These budgetary estimates are preliminary and necessary for the federal government’s annual budgeting 

processes.  Council has the opportunity to make the final decision on the contract and the funded strength 

for policing during the 2022 budget deliberations set to occur in the latter part of 2021 and early 2022. 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE IMPLICATIONS:    

On Council’s decision, Staff will provide the RCMP with the “approval in principle” confirmation letter for the 

2022/2023 Municipal Policing Contract year. Annual financial management of the 2022/2023 policing 

contract requires approximately 40 hours of staff time and includes review of the monthly financial 

statements, payment of quarterly invoicing, and budget approval reports to Council. 

ASSET MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS: 

Not Applicable 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES REFERENCE: 

The following 2019-2022 Council strategic priorities relate to the 2022/2023 RCMP Municipal Policing 

Contract: 

We focus on organizational and governance excellence 

 Responsibly provide services at levels which the people we serve are willing to pay 

 Value community safety and support our protective services 

 AREA OF CONTROL: The policy, works and programming matters that fall within Council's jurisdictional authority to act 

 AREA OF INFLUENCE: Matters that fall within shared or agreed jurisdiction between Council and another government or party 

 AREA OF CONCERN: Matters of interest that are outside Council's jurisdictional authority to act 

  

OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN REFERENCE:   

4.11.4 Police Protection 

Policing services are provided by the RCMP with the detachment located on Ryan Road. 

REGIONAL GROWTH STRATEGY REFERENCE: 

Not Applicable 

CITIZEN/PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT: 

While citizen engagement specific to the policing contract and the annual expenditure cap is not required, 

the public will have an opportunity to provide comments regarding budgeted police protection during the 

2022-2026 Financial Plan budget process. 

http://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.iap2.org/resource/resmgr/imported/IAP2%20Spectrum_vertical.pdf 
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OPTIONS:    

OPTION 1: That Council provide “approval in principle” for an expenditure cap of $6,831,280 for the 

2022/23 Municipal Policing Contract of which Courtenay is responsible for 90% ($6,193,789).  

[Recommended] 

OPTION 2: That Council defers “Approval in Principle” of the 2022/23 Municipal Policing Contract for further 

discussion. 

 While Option 2 is presented as an alternative, Council must be aware that, under the terms of 

the Municipal Policing Agreement, Approval in Principle must be provided to the RCMP as soon 

as possible. 

 

Prepared by:      Concurrence:  

 

      
Jennifer Nelson, CPA, CGA     Geoff Garbutt, M.PI., MCIP, RPP 

Director of Financial Services     Chief Administrative Officer 
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June 7, 2021  

  

David Allen Your File     Votre 
Chief Administrative Officer  
Corp. of the City of Courtenay  
830 Cliffe Ave. Our File       Notre 
Courtenay, BC  V9N 2J7 E753-28-1 
  

 
Dear Mr. Allen: 
 
 
Re: Municipal Contract Policing Multi-Year Financial Plan – 2022/23 
 
In keeping with the Municipal Police Service Agreement of 2012, we are communicating 
with our Municipal Partners to establish projections of our human and financial resource 
needs for 2022/23. 
 
Please confer with your Detachment Commander on the police services needs of the 
community, and the related human and financial resource requirements. 
 
For this 5-year planning cycle, we have included the cost matrix prepared for local 
governments per updates from the Contract Management Committee (see Appendix A).  It 
should be noted that this document will be updated annually as changes become known, 
and is current as of May 14, 2021. 
 
Attached for your information are: 
 

- Our Multi-Year Financial Plan (MYFP) for your RCMP Municipal Policing costs 
(Schedules 1, 2 and 3). This is a detailed listing of: 

a. actual costs for fiscal year 2019/20 
b. pre-final costs for 2020/21 
c. current year budget for 2021/22, and 
d. budget estimates for 2022/23 to 2026/27 

- Five-year budget estimates for Division Administration Costs (Schedule 4) 
- Sample Response Letter (Schedule 5) 
- Sample Request Letter to Decrease/Increase Authorized Strength (Schedule 6)  

 

 
Royal 
Canadian 
Mounted 
Police 
 

 
Gendarmerie 
royale 
du  
Canada 

 
 

 
Security Classification/Designation 
Classification/désignation sécuritaire 

 
Unclassified 
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The following items should be considered when reviewing the provided information: 
 
Settlement of Disputed Items:  The Provincial and Federal governments have resolved three 
of the long-standing disputed items, including the funding for Green Timbers and for the 
liability from Member Severance Liquidation. Related considerations for this MYFP are: 
 

Settlement amount for Green Timbers:  The Annual Payment amount as prescribed 
in the Settlement Agreement for your municipality has been included in our MYFP 
for the current year budget and onwards as a standalone item. This amount will be 
billed to you on an annual basis. 
 
Severance Liquidation (Earned Retirement Benefits):  Since April 1, 2012, 
severance no longer accumulates for members who resign or retire, but continues to 
accrue for lay-offs, deaths, and disabilities. The Annual Payment amount as 
prescribed in the Settlement Agreement for your municipality has been included in 
our MYFP for the current year budget and onwards as a standalone item. This 
amount will be billed to you on an annual basis. 

 
Cost Recoveries: Where applicable, costs for local events and/or prisoner costs that are now 
invoiced through the contract have been included in the MYFP. 

Member Pay:  The RCMP’s most recent salary agreement expired on December 31, 2016.  
An estimated pay increase of 2.5% per year has been included in the MYFP for RCMP 
members, and are reflected from 2017 onwards. Depending on the rates and provisions of 
the new pay package, the actual per member amount could vary from the included 2.5% 
estimate. Although a provision for retroactive pay has not been included in the estimates, 
we encourage you to carry forward any budget savings to future periods in preparation of 
when a new package will be finalised and retroactive pay is realized.  

Based on your municipalities budgeted FTE for 2021/22 of 31.396619999999999 at the pre 
communicated estimated rate of $30,500 per FTE, your potential liability for calendar years 
2017 to 2020 could be $957,597. 

Pay for Public Service Employees:  Public Service Employees (PSEs) supporting 
Municipal Policing are mostly represented by Public Service Alliance of Canada (PSAC), 
and the collective agreement will expire on June 20, 2021. An estimated pay increase of 
1.25% per year has been included in the MYFP where applicable. 

Excess Leave Liability:  The RCMP created a 5-year plan to reduce the excess leave 
balances of NCOs over the time period of 2017/18 to 2021/22. Unfortunately, due to 
operational pressures, the COVID pandemic and various other circumstances, a significant 
amount of excess leave still exists today. The RCMP expects approximately half of the 
remaining balances to be reduced this FY (2021/22) either through the use of annual leave 
or direct payouts and any remaining amount reduced next FY (2022/23). As per the Police 
Service Agreement, any costs associated with payout of annual leave will be cost shared. 
The current excess leave estimate for your jurisdiction is $51K at 100%.  
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Integrated Teams:  If applicable, these MYFP projections include your municipality’s share 
of costs for the Real Time Intelligence Centre (RTIC), and the Lower Mainland District 
(LMD) Integrated Teams.  These costs represent proposed budgets based on current 
information. 

LMD Integrated Homicide Investigation Team (IHIT):  Effective April 1, 2019, the 
existing LMD IHIT is included as a part of the RCMP Provincial Service. 
Associated costs and billings will be administered by the Province, and have been 
excluded from the noted Integrated Teams MYFP projections. 

Response Letters:  Please provide the requested information as detailed below to facilitate 
the Federal Treasury Board in securing their share of the Municipal contract policing costs 
within the federal budget cycle timelines.    
 
Please provide us with a letter of “Approval in Principle” (“AIP”) by June 15, 2021. The 
letter should address all requirements for fiscal year 2022/23, including: 
  

- Proposed establishment increase/decrease in regular and/or civilian members; 
- Municipal Policing budget in principle (at 100% costs) 
- If applicable, the budget in principle for Integrated Teams (excl. IHIT), RTIC, 

PSEs, Guards & Matrons and Accommodation (at 100% costs) 
- If applicable, approval in principle and basis of payments for any equipment 

costing $150,000 or more per item. 
     

We would like to emphasize that this AIP is for planning purposes only to facilitate the 
Federal Government’s Annual Reference Level Update (ARLU) process. It is important to 
include any anticipated changes in establishment at the AIP stage, as this impacts both 
recruitment and financial planning at the federal government level.  The AIP is not your 
final commitment for the additional personnel or for the increased financial budget 
indicated.  A copy of a sample response is provided for your reference (Schedule 5).   
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First Reply Requested:  
Approval in Principle Letter for 2022/23 (Schedule 5)        Due: June 15, 2021 
 
A) Please address the letter to: 
 

Ms. Maricar Bains 
Director of Finance, RCMP Pacific Region  
Mailstop #908, 14200 Green Timbers Way 
Surrey, BC Canada V3T 6P3 

 
B) Please forward a copy to Police Services addressed to: 
 

Mr. Wayne Rideout 
Assistant Deputy Minister and Director of Police Services 
Policing and Security Branch  
Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General 
P.O. Box 9285 Stn Prov Govt. 
Victoria, BC V8W 9J7 

 

 
Second Reply Requested:  
Final Confirmation Letter for 2022/23         Due: April 25, 2022 
 
By April 25, 2022, please forward a confirmation letter for the 2022/23 budget to: 
  

A. Director of Finance, RCMP Pacific Region  
 

B. Assistant Deputy Minister and Director of Police Services 
 

 
Annex “A” Amendment Letter                    Due on: Authorized Strength Change 
 
To enact changes in authorized member strength (establishment), you must request an 
amendment to the Annex “A” of your Municipal Police Unit Agreement through the 
provincial minister (sample provided as Schedule 6), in accordance to terms of Article 6.0 
of the agreement. 
 
A) Please address the letter to: 

The Honourable Mike Farnworth  
Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General 
P.O. Box 9010 Stn Prov Gov’t. 
Victoria, BC V8W 9L5 
 

B) Please forward a copy of the letter to: 
 

A. Member in Charge, Local RCMP Detachment 
 

B. Establishment Coordinator, Establishment Unit, RCMP “E” Division Headquarters 
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C. Contract Management Unit, BC RCMP Operations Strategy Branch 

 
D. Director of Finance, RCMP Pacific Region 

 
If you have any questions regarding your municipal budget or your contractual obligations, 
please contact Paul Richardson, Financial Manager Municipal Policing at 778-290-2490. 
 
 
Yours truly,   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Max Xiao, MBA, CPA, CMA 
Executive Director, Corporate Management & Comptrollership Branch 
Royal Canadian Mounted Police, Pacific Region 
Mailstop # 906, 14200 Green Timbers Way 
Surrey, BC Canada V3T 6P3 
 
Cc:   Mayor Bob Wells, Corp. of the City of Courtenay  
         Supt. Mac Richards, Acting District Commander, Island District 
         OIC Comox Valley Detachment 

      Maricar Bains, Director of Finance, RCMP Pacific Region 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         

    

RCMP E Division   
Finance Section, Mailstop #908 
14200 Green Timbers Way 
Surrey, BC Canada V3T 6P3 
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Item
Estimated Incremental 

Cost/Savings per FTE OR 
per Item @100%

Notes/Status Included in Multi-Year Financial 
Plan (MYFP)?

*Cadet Training/Recruiting $2,744/FTE
Status: Ongoing monitoring of costs by CMC's National Programs Standing Committee.  2022/23 projected rates of $4,901/FTE for Cadet 
Training and $1,343/FTE for recruiting are included in the Municipal MYFP. Estimated incremental cost = $6,244/FTE ($4,901 + $1,343) less
$3,500/FTE (rate under the 1992 MPSA & used for the 1st 3 yrs of 2012 MPSA) = $2,744/FTE.

Yes.  Next MYFP will have 
updated rates.

*Police Dogs Service Training 
(only applicable to 

Municipalities with police 
dogs)

$32,907/team Member FTE Status: Ongoing monitoring of costs by CMC's National Programs Standing Committee.  Projected rate of $32,907 per team Member FTE 
for 2022/23 is included in the Municipal MYFP.

Yes.  Next MYFP will have 
updated rates.

*RCMP Members' Pay 
Increase

Status: Ongoing.  Pay package expired Dec. 31/16; MYFP placeholder of 2.5%/year pay raise for periods after expiry. National Police 
Federation (NPF) is the labour union for RCMP Non-commissioned Regular Members as well as Reservists hired under the RCMP Reserve 
Program. If the settlement is higher than the current forecast, there will be additional costs. RCMP "E" Division will provide financial impact 
estimate as soon as a new pay package becomes available.

Yes.  Estimate of 2.5% per 
year included.

*RCMP PSEs' Pay Increase 
(impact mainly through Div. 

Admin.)

Status: Ongoing.  On Oct. 23, 2020 Federal TB and Public Service Alliance of Canada (PSAC) settled the Public Service Employees' 
(PSEs') pay increases at 2.8%, 2.2% and 1.35% per annum for the 3 years from June 21, 2018. A $2,500/FTE provided for compensation of 
damages caused by the payroll system, Phoenix, was determined as non-billable (excluded cost) to contract policing partners. The new 
expiry date is June 20, 2021. Majority of RCMP PSEs are PSAC members. Impact to majority of RCMP municipalities on Div. Admin., with 
additional impact to municipalities that have PSEs. MYFP placeholder of 1.25%/year pay raise for periods after expiry. RCMP "E" Division 
will provide cost impact estimate as soon as the new rates are settled.

Yes.  Estimate of 1.25% per 
year included.

Shared Services Canada 
(SSC)  

Status: Ongoing monitoring of costs and service delivery.  SSC created a dedicated support team for RCMP, to address backlogs and 
improve service delivery. To date, FY 2011/12 costs of telephones, computer/communication equipment etc. continue to be used for the per 
FTE cost calculation, as CMC demands for cost details such as basket of goods and costs allocation methodology. No incremental 
costs/savings can be identified at this time.

Yes.  $721 per FTE.  

*Other Consolidated Services 
(cost allocated thru Div. 
Admin.) - internal within 

RCMP

Status: Ongoing monitoring.  Expenses in 3 Consolidated Services (Accounting Ops; Members' Compensation Service; NCO Promotions 
Unit) showed very minimal financial impact over the years and in some cases Div. Admin. offsets have been achieved. However, due to the 
Pandemic, the cost of Members' Compensation Service is expected to rise temporarily for a couple of years due to extra workload to digitize 
pay files to accommodate staff working from home. And, NCO Promotions Unit anticipates extra workload mainly due to promotional 
grievances which requires an increase of permanent resources.

Yes.  Next MYFP will have 
updated rates.

*Other Consolidated Services 
(cost allocated thru Div. 

Admin.) - external

Status: Ongoing monitoring of expenses vs Div. Admin. offset.  1) PSEs' Compensation Service centralized in Miramichi, NB in Sept./13; 
have been charged within Div. Admin. based on 2011/12 Actuals until 2014/15. Ongoing monitoring req'd to ensure the potential 
replacement of the payroll system (Phoenix) does not have financial impact on contract partners.  2) Eff. April 1/13 RCMP's in-house 
program, Employee Assistance Services, was discontinued; all RCMP Members & PSEs are now supported by Health Canada. 

Yes.  Next MYFP will have 
updated rates.

*MacNeil Report (Moncton)

Status: Ongoing.  64 recommendations in 5 key areas (Supervision, Training, Technology/Equipment, Communications and Aftercare) were 
provided through the Jan./15 comprehensive and critical assessment of the tragic events in Moncton NB (June 4, 2014). Update: Majority 
implemented; remaining recommendations incl. IT solutions require additional time and funding, to be fully implemented. Employees' Health 
& Safety continues to be RCMP's top priority. See MacNeil Report & RCMP responses on RCMP website for more details. 

No

*Android Team Awareness Kit 
(ATAK)  

Status: Ongoing testing of software across RCMP Divisions.  ATAK is a situational awareness software that would allow for Members to be 
tracked/monitored via GPS when they exited their vehicle, by front-line supervisors, Critical Incident Commander, Operational 
Communications Centres (OCC), Division Emergency Operations Centres (DEOC) and/or the National Operations Centre (NOC). Update: 
Requires each Member be issued an Android phone. Project proposal currently being advanced for system implementation across the 
RCMP. Financial impact/timelines are unknown at this time.

No

List of Potential RCMP Policing Costs/Savings to RCMP "E" Division Municipalities
As at May 7, 2021
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Item
Estimated Incremental 

Cost/Savings per FTE OR 
per Item @100%

Notes/Status Included in Multi-Year Financial 
Plan (MYFP)?

*Auxiliary Program  
Status: Ongoing.  In Dec./16 RCMP Senior Executive Committee (SEC) renamed the program from RCMP Auxiliary Cst. Program to RCMP 
Auxiliary Program and implemented a 3-tiered model. Update: Evaluation completed and has been published externally. Procurement of 
new uniform items is expected to be completed in 6 to 24 months. Work on the standardized Auxiliary Program MOU is ongoing. 

No

*RCMP Labour Relations 
Advisors  

Status: Ongoing.  With unionization, managers/supervisors require additional support to navigate the new labour relations regime. Similar to 
the previous Public Service Labour Relations Advisors (PSLRAs), Member Labour Relation Advisors (MLRAs) have been appointed to guide
and assist managers/supervisors in areas such as: interpret/assist in application of collective agreements/human resources policy, 
grievance responses, delivery of training courses, establish/coordinate joint committees (Labour Mgmt. Consultation Committees, 
Occupational Health & Safety Committees, etc.). Financial impact, if any, is unknown at this time.

No

*eMCM Renewal - Major Case 
Mgmt. Software Update

Status: Planned rollout Jan. 2022 to Sept. 2022.  This system replaces the current Evidence and Reporting (E&R) System and interfaces 
with other RCMP Records Mgmt. Systems; standardizes operations by implementing a centralized solution to better support police 
operations in managing major cases; facilitates responding to escalating demands for info. sharing with policing and law enforcement 
partners. This new system may require additional staff for data input, however, the centralized solution will minimize the administrative 
burden at the frontline and optimize integrity of info. Update: Vendor selected, contract awarded and ready for rollout in 2022.

No

*New Uniform Proposal

Status: Ongoing.  Vision 150 is a RCMP initiative to modernize RCMP. The new uniform proposal is part of Vision 150 and one of the 
recommendations in the MacNeil Report mentioned above, for national consistency. Members selected are to provide feedback on the 
fit/functionality of new uniform possibilities. Update: Ranger green uniform for all Police Dog Handlers ($5K per uniform) has been 
tentatively approved but being revisited; Public Order Unit (POU) Level II uniform - aim to award a contract in 12 months; new uniform for 
RMs - survey done in winter of 2019; fulsome analysis underway in partnership with University of Regina to examine impacts on 
organizational stress and workforce well-being. There should be minimal incremental cost, if any, as new proposed uniforms will replace 
current uniform through an evergreening process, i.e. no initial bulk costs anticipated.

No.  Some detachments have 
requested moderate increases 
to their Kit & Clothing budgets 
per the current pilot prgm, but 
"E" Div. Finance has not been 
instructed to incl. general 
estimates for this item within 
MYFP.

*Greening Government

Status: Met 1st mandatory greenhouse gas emissions reporting requirement in 2019 & ongoing annual reporting req'd.  In response to 
Federal Government's national strategy to combat climate change and to support Canada's sustainability goals already established 
internationally, RCMP is required to transition to low-carbon and climate-resilient operations, while also reducing environmental impacts 
beyond carbon. Update: Initial CMC Consultation document shared, ongoing updates will be provided to CMC on future plans. Financial 
impact, if any, is unknown at this time.

No

*Accumulated Excess Annual 
Leave

Status: Ongoing monitoring of Non-Commissioned RMs' excess leave/potential $ liability.  Currently, Non-Commissioned Regular Members 
(RMs) and Civilian Members (CMs) are not permitted to accumulate annual leave above 400 hours. RCMP Senior Executive Committee 
announced a 5-year plan to draw down the excess annual leave balances for Non-Commissioned RMs eff. Apr. 1/17, while ensuring leave 
policies are being enforced. And, CMs' excess leave balances are being paid out at each fiscal year-end; the financial impact to 
municipalities was minimal (less than $3K in total) as there are only approx. 30 CMs under the RCMP municipal business line. For RMs, 
financial impact is anticipated due to unforeseen operational requirements including but not limited to large-scale protests, wildfires and the 
COVID-19 Pandemic which had adverse impact on the 5-year draw-down plan. Financial impact will vary by municipality.

No.  "E" Div. Finance has not 
been instructed to incl. 
estimates for this item within 
MYFP.

*Body Worn Video

Status: Pilot Project in "V" Division.  In light of recent international and domestic events, RCMP is committed to a National Born Worn 
Camera Program. 20 Body Worn Cameras and associated computer equipment have been provided to start the pilot project in Iqaluit, 
Nunavut. It may extend to another location, based on capacity and lessons learned. The result of this project will be used to inform new 
RCMP policies, training, needs for disclosure and use at trials, etc. CMC will be updated for more details as the Implementation Plan 
becomes available. Potential incremental costs and timelines will be included in the Implementation Plan and in subsequent MYFPs.    

No

Modernization of 
Intervention Equipment 

Strategy:

Status: Ongoing.   Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP has been awarded a contract to develop a Strategic Narrative Document (SND) to help 
support the Modernization Strategy moving forward. The SND will contain recommendations for prioritization for 8 pieces of intervention 
equipment/modern ballistic protection. In addition to those items mentioned below, Conducted Energy Weapon (CEW) and Soft Body Amour 
will also be examined. 

No

Breaching Equipment ~ $160/preferred unit option

Status: Pending decision if the equip. will be mandatory.  Currently no approved breaching equipment for General Duty Members. It is 
designed to be stored in a marked police vehicle for dealing with Immediate Action Rapid Development (IARD) type incidents. Research of 9 
different types of breaching tools have been conducted/evaluated, ranging from $160 to $2K per tool. The preferred tool costs $160. Moved 
forward to procurement, and, once the tool is selected, policy and training will be finalized.

No
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Item
Estimated Incremental 

Cost/Savings per FTE OR 
per Item @100%

Notes/Status Included in Multi-Year Financial 
Plan (MYFP)?

*Extended Range Impact 
Weapon (ERIW) (40mm; less 

lethal)

$3,528/weapon incl. 
ancillaries

Status: Pending approval for full rollout.  These weapons are provided to Members with a less lethal option that can be deployed at a greater 
distance. The low velocity rounds are accurate and effective up to 35 metres. An increase in distance provides Members with additional time 
to react to the situation. Update: The 1-year General Duty pilot project ended on May 31/19; during the 12 month pilot, there have been a 
total of 41 general duty deployments of the weapon. Results of deployments have been analyzed and included in a post-pilot report which is 
under review for recommendations with suggested changes to the program. Work is underway for a new standing offer for munitions and 
alternative munitions. Once approved for full rollout, a risk-assessment matrix will be sent to divisions to assist in the determination of 
quantity require. 

No.  "E" Div. Finance did not 
receive breakdown by unit to 
include this.

Portable Ballistic Shields 
(PBS) $8K to $10K/unit

Status: Pending decision if the equip. will be mandatory for every detachment, and, if there's a minimum # required per detachment.  It is an 
extra ballistic protection that will supplement soft/hard body armours for General Duty Members in some situations. National Use of Force 
has reviewed the new standard from National Institute of Justice (NIJ) and will forward to senior mgmt. at Contract & Indigenous Policing 
(C&IP) for approval. Training on the use of a PBS will cover containment and officer/citizen rescues in exigent circumstances to preserve 
life.

No.  "E" Div. Finance has not 
been instructed to incl. 
estimates for this item within 
MYFP.

*Hard Body Armour (HBA II) $600/unit

Status: Pending final decision.  Ongoing review of the current product description to make amendments in weight and size. Update: A 
change in ballistic protection is approved in principle by C&IP but still awaiting two other approvals. RCMP NHQ continues to explore the 
option of issuing HBA to all Members as part of the personal issued kit. With industry advancements, lighter weight HBA plates and plates of 
different sizes are available, to allow a better fit for different body shapes. 

No.  "E" Div. Finance did not 
receive breakdown by unit to 
include this.

*Pistol Modernization/Long 
Gun Rifle

Status: Pending final decision.  After a review to replace the current General Duty pistols which have been in use since 1994, RCMP made a 
proposal to adopt a modern pistol to ensure Members have the appropriate equip. to perform their job. Industry advancements have been 
made resulting in in the availability of lighter weight pistols which allow for attachments of lights, improved ergonomics and increased 
reliability. This proposal also led to a more thorough review of long guns which indicated that efficiencies in training, annual recertification 
compliance and maintenance can be achieved by eliminating some firearms and upgrading the existing carbine with some additional 
accoutrements. A longer term proposal would involve the elimination of 1 or 2 long guns and a calibre conversion for the existing carbines. A 
strategy document has been finalized incorporate all current firearms in one modernization package and is awaiting a final decision.

No.  "E" Div. Finance has not 
been instructed to incl. 
estimates for this item within 
MYFP.

*Employer's Contribution to 
Members' Pension

Total Estimated Savings will 
be reduced by ($1M) per 

year @cost share from the 
previous ($9.5M) per year 

@cost share

Status: Implementation of 0.37% rate increase eff. Apr. 1/21 for 3 Fiscal Years. CMC has endorsed the Pension Panel's recommendation to 
increase the employer's contribution to Members' pension from 19.07% of pensionable salaries to 19.44% eff. Apr. 1/21 for 3 Fiscal Years 
(2021/22, 2022/23, 2023/24). Historical rates: Apr. 1/15 to Mar. 31/18: 22.7%; Apr. 1/18 to Mar. 31/21: 19.07% (3.63% reduction).  

Yes.  Ongoing savings 
reflected.

Note: * = new items or updates added to the previous Matrix

Savings:
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SCHEDULE 1

COURTENAY 21/22 22/23 $ %

2021-22 to 2022-23 Fiscal Estimates Budget Estimates Change Change

Contract Strength 31.40 31.40 -            - Notes

 Funded Strength 31.40 31.40 -            -

COST ELEMENT GROUP (CEG)

01 - PERSONNEL

REGULAR PAY 3,112,168 3,187,808 75,640 2.4% 2.5% pay increase

OVERTIME - MEMBERS 350,000 358,750 8,750 2.5% 2.5% pay increase

PAYROLL ALLOWANCES * 206,305 211,463 5,158 2.5%

OTHER PAYROLL ITEMS ** 174,732 179,101 4,368 2.5%

01 - PERSONNEL: TOTAL 3,843,205 3,937,121 93,916 2.4%

02 - TRANSPORT & TELECOM 94,361 95,295 934 1.0%

03 - INFORMATION 1,173 1,184 11 0.9%

04 - PROFESSIONAL & SPEC SVCS 175,971 163,641 (12,331) (7.0%) Slight decrease in Training and Seminars

05 - RENTALS 17,978 20,105 2,127 11.8%

06 - PURCHASE, REPAIR AND MAINT 57,454 58,647 1,193 2.1%

07 - UTIL, MATERIAL AND SUPP 200,792 203,612 2,820 1.4%

09 - MACHINERY & EQUIPMENT 250,572 357,262 106,690       42.6%
1 additional vehicle purchase and increase in finger print 

machine and license plate reader

12 - OTHER SUBSIDIES & PMTS 5,610 5,660 50 0.9%

TOTAL DIRECT COST 4,647,117 4,842,526 195,409 4.2%

COST OF RM PENSIONS 622,861 650,399 27,538         4.4% Increase in pension rate 19.07% to 19.44%

COST OF DIVISIONAL ADMINISTRATION 871,884 931,726 59,842         6.9% Increase in Div Admin due to rising Special Leave

COST OF OTHER INDIRECT COSTS *** 419,381 406,628 (12,752) (3.0%) reduction of 7% in recruitment training

TOTAL INDIRECT COST 1,914,126 1,988,753 74,628         3.9%

TOTAL COSTS (Direct + Indirect ) 6,561,243 6,831,280 270,037 4.1%

FEDERAL COST 10 % 656,124 683,128 27,004 4.1%

MUNICIPAL POLICING COSTS 90% 5,905,118 6,148,152 243,033 4.1%

ANNUAL PAYMENTS per SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

Earned Retirement Benefit Payment (Serverance) 27,070 27,070 0 -

Green Timbers 18,568 18,568 0 -

TOTAL MUNICIPAL POLICING COSTS 90% 5,950,756 6,193,789 243,033 4.1%

ESTIMATED COST PER RM (90%) 188,081 195,822 7,741 4.1%

PSE & ACCOMMODATION ESTIMATES @ 100%

PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES 735,782 771,187

CM Position 78,463 81,822

ACCOMMODATION 288,867          237,148          

   TOTAL PSE & ACCOMMODATION 1,103,112       1,090,157       

 *     Payroll Allowances include:  Service Pay, Senior Constable, Occupational Clothing,  and Shift Differential
**    Other Payroll items include:   Acting Pay and Reservists 

FINANCIAL BUDGET COMPARATIVE  21/22 TO 22/23

1 of 1
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RCMP Municipal Policing Costs - Five Year Forecast      Schedule 1

COURTENAY

2022/23 to 2026/27 Fiscal Estimates 19/20 Final 20/21 Pre Final

21/22  Final 

Budget 22/23  Estimates 23/24  Estimates 24/25  Estimates 25/26 Estimates 26/27 Estimates

CONTRACT STRENGTH 31.4 31.4 31.4 31.4 31.4 32.4 33.4 33.4
ACTUAL / FUNDED STRENGTH 24.86 27.4 31.4 31.4 31.4 32.4 33.4 33.4

COST ELEMENT GROUP (CEG)

STD OBJ. 01 - PERSONNEL 2,020 2,020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020

CEG 10 - PAY - PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES - CM 347,477

CEG 30 - PAY - MEMBERS:
   CE 500110 - REGULAR PAY  2,271,691 2,442,997 3,112,168 3,187,808 3,267,503 3,453,456 3,646,665 3,737,832

   CE 500112 - RETROACTIVE PAY 2,518 2,722

   CE 500113 - ACTING PAY 14,426 7,807 16,600 17,015 17,440 17,876 18,323 18,781
   CE 500114 - SERVICE PAY 73,769 81,428 87,307 89,490 91,727 94,020 96,371 98,780

   CE 500117 - SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL 32,249 35,410 38,663 39,630 40,620 41,636 42,677 43,744

   CE 500119 - PERFORMANCE AWARD 400 -400
   CE 500164 - SENIOR CST ALLOWANCE 59,834 53,298 66,708 68,375 70,085 71,837 73,633 75,473

   CE 501127 - RETRO PAY - PRIOR YEARS 3,413 2,718

   CE 501194 - REGULAR TIME RESERVISTS 101,744 48,984 158,132 162,086 166,138 175,715 185,667 190,309
   CE 501198 - BILINGUAL BONUS - Current 804 126
   CE 502103 - OPERATIONAL CLOTHING ALLOWANCE 6,179 6,834 13,628 13,968 14,318 15,143 16,001 16,401
    MISC. CE's incl. under CEG 30 12,620 14,235
CEG 30 - PAY - MEMBERS - TOTAL 2,579,645 2,693,440 3,493,205 3,578,371 3,667,830 3,869,683 4,079,336 4,181,320
CEG 31 - OVERTIME - MEMBERS 262,932 245,144 350,000 358,750 367,719 376,912 386,335 395,993
CEG 32 - PAY - MEMBERS (POLICY CENTRE) Credit Item71,252 779

CEG 33 - RCMP PAY - OTHER
CEG 40 - ALLOWANCES - INTRA MEMBERS (Credit Item) 7,852 21,527
CEG 41 - ALLOWANCES - INTER MEMBERS (Credit Item)
CEG 45 - PERSONNEL - OPERATIONAL CONTINGENCY

 TOTAL STD OBJ. 01 - PERSONNEL 2,921,681 2,960,890 3,843,205 3,937,121 4,035,549 4,246,595 4,465,671 4,577,312

STD OBJ. 02 – TRANSPORTATION & TELECOM
    CEG 50 - TRAVEL 14,673 5,249 34,669 34,981 35,296 36,748 38,223 38,567
    CEG 51 - TRAVEL ADVANCES
    CEG 52 - TRAINING TRAVEL (DCCEG) 10,793 1,454 31,984 32,943 33,932 36,063 38,291 39,440
    CEG 53 - TRAINING TRAVEL (POST) 7,658 38 15,685 15,826 15,968 16,625 17,293 17,448
    CEG 54 - IPA & FSD TRAVEL
    CEG 55 - CENTRALIZED TRAINING TRAVEL
    CEG's 60-66 - TRANSFER COSTS (Credit Item) 72,481 174,887
    CEG 70 - FREIGHT, POSTAGE, ETC. 8,201 4,104 11,442 11,545 11,649 11,754 11,860 11,966
    CEG 100 - TELEPHONE SERVICES (DCCEG) 1,029 145 582
    CEG 101 - TELEPHONE SERVICES (POST)
    CEG 140 - COMPUTER COMM SERVICES

TOTAL STD OBJ. 02 – TRANSPORT & TELECOM 114,835 185,876 94,361 95,295 96,844 101,189 105,666 107,421

STD OBJ. 03 - INFORMATION
    CEG 120 - ADVERTISING 673 679 685 714 742 749
    CEG 130 - PUBLICATIONS SERVICES 737 7 500 505 509 530 551 556

TOTAL STANDARD OBJ. 03 - INFORMATION 737 7 1,173 1,184 1,194 1,244 1,293 1,305

STD OBJ. 04 - PROFESSIONAL & SPEC. SVCS
    CEG 160 - LEGAL SERVICES (Credit Item) 8,360 6,917
    CEG 170 - CONTRACTED SERVICES (DCCEG) 59,433
    CEG 171 - CONTRACTED SERVICES (Post)
    CEG 190 - TRAINING & SEMINARS (DCCEG) 37,694 10,989 65,923 49,426 52,065 53,873 54,965 57,555
    CEG 191 - TRAINING & SEMINARS (POST) 3,261 1,398 4,243 4,281 4,319 4,497 4,677 4,720
    CEG 192 - OFFICIAL LANGUAGE TRAINING
    CEG 219 - PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 47,954 46,890 48,339 48,775 49,994 51,244 52,525 53,838
    CEG 220 - OTHER SERVICES  1,498 1,914 8,999 9,080 9,307 9,540 9,779 10,023
    CEG 221 - OTHER SERVICES IM/IT 38,937 36,583 43,198 44,285 45,914 46,444 48,198 50,046
    CEG 223 - RADIO COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS 7,990 4,482 5,269 7,794 7,894 8,017 8,172 8,354
    CEG 229 - CADC ALLOCATED -134 -4,395

TOTAL STANDARD OBJ. 04 - PROFESSIONAL & SPEC SVCS 145,560 164,212 175,971 163,641 169,493 173,615 178,316 184,535

STD OBJ. 05 - RENTALS
    CEG 240 - RENTAL-LAND,BLDG & WORKS (DCCEG) 4,629
    CEG 241 - RENTAL-LAND,BLDG & WORKS (POST) 1,632 409 2,000 2,018 2,036 2,120 2,205 2,225
    CEG 250 - RENTAL COMNS EQUIP (DCCEG) 130 112 104 184 184 184 184 184
    CEG 258 - RENTAL MOTORIZED VEHICLES
    CEG 265 - LEASED VEHICLES
    CEG 280 - RENTAL COMPUTER EQUIP 3,473 3,747 5,263 7,196 6,977 7,318 7,318 7,318
    CEG 290 - RENTAL - OTHERS 910 1,894 10,611 10,707 10,803 10,900 10,998 11,097

TOTAL STANDARD OBJ. 05 - RENTALS 6,144 10,791 17,978 20,105 20,000 20,522 20,705 20,824

STD OBJ. 06 - PURCHASE, REPAIR AND MAINT
    CEG 311 - REPAIR OF BUILDINGS & WORKS 175
    CEG 370 - REPAIR OF VEHICLES 27,459 27,376 50,640 51,096 51,556 53,676 55,831 56,334
    CEG 380 - REPAIR OF OFFICE & LAB EQUIP 63
    CEG 390 - REPAIR OF MISC. EQUIP 10,169 5,084 6,814 6,875 6,937 6,999 7,062 7,126
    CEG 392 - REPAIR OF AFIS EQUIP
    CEG 393 - REPAIR OF EDP EQUIPMENT -21 676 676 676 676 676

TOTAL STANDARD OBJ. 06 - PURCHASE, REPAIR AND MAINT37,607 34,862 57,454 58,647 59,169 61,352 63,570 64,136

STD OBJ. 07 - UTIL, MATERIAL AND SUPPLIES
    CEG 400 - UTILITIES -                   22,068             -                   -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
    CEG 430 - FUEL 68,038 49,786 72,357 74,021 74,687 77,760 80,881 81,609
    CEG 470 - PHOTOGRAPHIC GOODS 3,158 2,464 3,344 3,374 3,404 3,435 3,466 3,497
    CEG 500 - STATIONERY 12,030 10,446 32,783 33,078 33,376 34,749 36,144 36,469
    CEG 510 - CLOTHING & KIT  8,087 20,514 26,741 26,982 27,224 28,344 29,482 29,748
    CEG 530 - LAB SUPPLIES
    CEG 540 - POST BUDGET EXPENDITURES 31,108 39,295 65,567 66,157 66,752 69,498 72,288 72,939

TOTAL STD OBJ. 07 - UTIL, MATERIAL AND SUPP 122,423 144,573 200,792 203,612 205,445 213,787 222,262 224,262
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RCMP Municipal Policing Costs - Five Year Forecast      Schedule 1

COURTENAY

2022/23 to 2026/27 Fiscal Estimates 19/20 Final 20/21 Pre Final

21/22  Final 

Budget 22/23  Estimates 23/24  Estimates 24/25  Estimates 25/26 Estimates 26/27 Estimates

CONTRACT STRENGTH 31.4 31.4 31.4 31.4 31.4 32.4 33.4 33.4
ACTUAL / FUNDED STRENGTH 24.86 27.4 31.4 31.4 31.4 32.4 33.4 33.4

COST ELEMENT GROUP (CEG)

STD OBJ. 09 - MACHINERY & EQUIP ACQ<$10,000
    CEG 440 - TRANSPORT SUPPLIES 11,497 8,227 17,480 17,637 17,796 18,528 19,271 19,445
    CEG 441 - VEHICLE CHANGEOVERS 14,391 27,458 26,219 26,455 26,693 27,792 28,907 29,167
    CEG 450 - COMNS PARTS & CONSUMABLES 1,996 2,265 2,139 2,349 2,396 2,468 2,542 2,644
    CEG 480 - FIREARMS & AMMUNITION 5,950 1,197 12,215 1,258 1,289 1,322 1,355 1,389
    CEG 770 - COMMS. SYSTEMS (CAPITAL) 18,864 19,239 21,595 18,914 18,925 18,942 18,960 18,978
    CEG 771 - COMMS. EQUIPMENT 514
    CEG 810 - LABORATORY EQUIP. 4,350
    CEG 830 - FURNITURE & FIXTURES 481
    CEG 840 - COMPUTER EQUIPMENT (CAPITAL)
    CEG 841 - COMPUTER EQUIP. 27,271 39,968 24,823 42,458 44,480 48,524 48,524 48,524
    CEG 842 - COMPUTER S/WARE - INFORMATICS 120 30 20,231 4,517 4,517 4,517 4,517 4,517
    CEG 845 - SPECIALIZED EQUIPMENT
    CEG 850 - AUDIO VISUAL AIDS
    CEG 860 - INVESTIGATIONAL EQUIP. 3,462 7,500 7,071 7,135 7,199 7,495 7,796 7,866
    CEG 890 - VEHICLES (CAPITAL) 63,273 108,188 90,000 135,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000
    CEG 891 - MISC. VEHICLES
    CEG 900 - OTHER EQUIP. 6,042 6,097 6,152 6,405 6,662 6,722
    CEG 910 - OFFICE MACHINES 8,921 2,886 9,000 9,081 9,163 9,245 9,328 9,412
    CEG 920 - SECURITY EQUIP. 556 1,413 13,242 86,361 20,000 20,823 21,659 21,854

TOTAL STD OBJ. 09 - MACHINERY & EQUIPMENT 166,404 218,852 250,572 357,262 248,610 256,059 259,521 260,518

STD OBJ. 12 - OTHER SUBSIDIES & PAYMENTS
    CEG 570 - PRISONER EXPENSES 1,030
    CEG 580 - SECRET EXPENSES 4,660 5,671 5,610 5,660 5,711 5,763 5,815 5,867
    CEG 581 - SPECIAL "I" EXPENDITURES 1,500
    CEG 590 - MISC EXPEND 3,720 9,713
    CEG 591 - DISCOUNT FOR EARLY PAYMENT
    CEG 592 - PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAXES 18,200
     CEG 620 - CLAIMS and COMP.SETTLEMENTS (Credit Item)57,500
    CEG 650 - WRITE-OFF

TOTAL STD OBJ. 12 - OTHER SUBSIDIES & PMTS 66,909 35,084 5,610 5,660 5,711 5,763 5,815 5,867

TOTAL  DIRECT COSTS (Before Credits & Adjustments):3,582,301 4,116,447 4,647,117 4,842,526 4,842,016 5,080,126 5,322,820 5,446,181

LESS - YEAR TO DATE CREDITS

  SO 01 - CEG 32 - Medical Leave / Suspension > 30 days71,252 779
  SO 01 - CEG 40 & 41 -Transfer Allowances 7,852 21,527
  SO 02 - CEG's 60-66 Transfer Cost 72,481 174,887
TRAVEL ADVANCES - CEG 051 & SALARY OVERPAYMENTS - CEG 010 9,713
  SO 04 - CEG 160 - Legal Services 8,360 6,917
  SO 04 - CEG's 200, 201 & 202 - Health Services
  SO12 - CEG 620 - Compensation Claims/Ex-Gratia 57,500
    Refund of Credits under CE 1691 130

TOTAL CREDITS 217,575 213,823

ADJUSTMENTS TO DIRECT COSTS ( See 'A' below) -73,023 3,902,624

TOTAL DIRECT COSTS AFTER ADJUSTMENTS: 3,291,703 3,902,624 4,647,117 4,842,526 4,842,016 5,080,126 5,322,820 5,446,181

INDIRECT COSTS (Summary)
1) RM Pensions 460,050 492,557 622,861 650,399 666,659 703,594 741,960 760,509
2) RM CPP 72,280 88,049 95,907 106,023 108,673 114,938 121,448 124,484
3) Employer's Contr. to E.I. for R/M's 25,734 27,635 34,146 33,277 34,109 36,075 38,118 39,071
4) Division Administration (per cap x avg.# RM's) 613,371 725,584 871,884 931,726 972,699 1,048,419 1,129,540 1,181,138
5) Recruitment & Training 150,676 172,116 215,758 196,040 206,276 212,846 219,416 219,416
6) National Programs 36,065 41,956 47,458 48,253 48,339 49,968 51,604 51,699
7) Police Dog Service Training 8,447 26,113 23,035 22,842 22,842 22,842 22,842
8) Amortization of Equipment > $150,000 @ 10%
9) Reservists - CPP & EI 4,927 7,837

TOTAL INDIRECT COST 1,363,104 1,564,181 1,914,126 1,988,753 2,059,596 2,188,682 2,324,928 2,399,159

TOTAL COSTS (Direct + Indirect ) @ 100% 4,654,807 5,466,806 6,561,243 6,831,280 6,901,612 7,268,808 7,647,748 7,845,340
FEDERAL COST 10 % 465,481 546,681 656,124 683,128 690,161 726,881 764,775 784,534

MUNICIPAL COST 90% 4,189,327 4,920,125 5,905,118 6,148,152 6,211,450 6,541,927 6,882,973 7,060,806

MUNICIPAL COSTS - 100 % (Schedule 3,3B &3C) 781,939 222,989 1,103,112 1,090,157 1,103,784 1,117,582 1,131,551 1,145,696

TOTAL COSTS PRIOR TO SETTLEMENT 4,971,266 5,143,114 7,008,230 7,238,309 7,315,235 7,659,509 8,014,525 8,206,502

ANNUAL PAYMENTS per SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

Earned Retirement Benefit Payment (Serverance) 62,049 27,070 27,070 27,070 27,070 27,070 27,070

Green Timbers 29,546 18,568 18,568 18,568 18,568 18,568 18,568

TOTAL MUNICIPAL POLICING COSTS 4,971,266 5,234,710 7,053,868 7,283,947 7,360,872 7,705,146 8,060,162 8,252,139

8,410,001

FTE - FULL TIME EQUIVALENTS

   RM / CM - ESTABLISHED 24.86 31.4 31.4 31.4 31.4 32.4 33.4 33.4

   CM 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7

   RESERVISTS 1.19                 1.77                 1.61                 1.61 1.61 1.66 1.72 1.72

   PSE's 7.63                 9.00                 9.00                       9.00                       9.00                       9.00                       9.00                       
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RCMP Municipal Policing Costs - Five Year Forecast      Schedule 1

COURTENAY

2022/23 to 2026/27 Fiscal Estimates 19/20 Final 20/21 Pre Final

21/22  Final 

Budget 22/23  Estimates 23/24  Estimates 24/25  Estimates 25/26 Estimates 26/27 Estimates

CONTRACT STRENGTH 31.4 31.4 31.4 31.4 31.4 32.4 33.4 33.4
ACTUAL / FUNDED STRENGTH 24.86 27.4 31.4 31.4 31.4 32.4 33.4 33.4

COST ELEMENT GROUP (CEG)

INDIRECT COSTS  -  REGULAR & CIVILIAN MEMBERS 
1) Pensions (Total Pensionable Earnings) 2,412,428        2,582,889        3,266,182        3,345,673             3,429,314             3,619,313             3,816,668             3,912,085             
       Pension Rate 19.07% 19.07% 19.07% 19.44% 19.44% 19.44% 19.44% 19.44%
      Total Cost of RM/CM Pension 460,050           492,557           622,861           650,399                 666,659                703,594                741,960                760,509                

-                   
2) CPP (Pensionable Earnings) on a Per Capita Cost 2,907               3,214               3,055               3,377                     3,461                     3,548                     3,637                     3,727                     

      Total Cost  (Per Capita x FTE Utilization) 72,280             88,049             95,907             106,023                 108,673                114,938                121,448                124,484                
-                   

3) Employer's Contr. to E.I.  on a Per Capita Cost 1,035               1,009               1,088               1,060                     1,086                     1,114                     1,141                     1,170                     

      Total Cost  (Per Capita x FTE Utilization) 25,734             27,635             34,146             33,277                   34,109                   36,075                   38,118                   39,071                   

4) Division Administration on a Per Capita Cost 24,673             26,487             27,770             29,676                   30,981                   32,362                   33,822                   35,367                   
       Total Cost of Div. Administration 613,371           725,584           871,884           931,726                 972,699                1,048,419             1,129,540             1,181,138             

-                   
5) Recruitment & Training -                   
       Per Capita Cost of Recruitment 4,768               1,333               5,366               4,901                     5,061                     5,061                     5,061                     5,061                     
       Per Capita Cost of Training 1,293               4,950               1,506               1,343                     1,509                     1,509                     1,509                     1,509                     
         Total Cost of Recruitment & Trng 150,676           172,116           215,758           196,040                 206,276                212,846                219,416                219,416                

-                   
6) Other National Indirects Per Capita (Addendum 'A') 1,451               1,532               1,512               1,537                     1,540                     1,542                     1,545                     1,548                     

      Total Cost  (Per Capita x FTE Utilization) 36,065             41,956             47,458             48,253                   48,339                   49,968                   51,604                   51,699                   
-                   

7) Police Dog Svc. Trng. as a Per Cap. cost 32,540             34,434             37,304             32,907                   32,631                   32,631                   32,631                   32,631                   
     Total Cost (Per cap X PD Teams) - COURTENAY=70% -                   8,447               26,113             23,035                   22,842                   22,842                   22,842                   22,842                   

TOTAL INDIRECT COSTS - RM's & CM's 1,358,177        1,556,344        1,914,126        1,988,753             2,059,596             2,188,682             2,324,928             2,399,159             

INDIRECT COSTS - RESERVISTS                         FTE 1.61                    1.61                          1.61                          1.66                          1.72                          1.72                          

a) CPP for Reservist on a Per Capita Cost.. 2,907               3,214               3,055               3,377                     3,461                     3,548                     3,637                     3,727                     
      Total Cost  (Per Capita x FTE) 3,460               5,693               -                   -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

b) Employer's Contr. to E.I. on a Per Capita Cost.. 1,233               1,211               1,295               1,272                     1,304                     1,336                     1,370                     1,404                     
      Total Cost  (Per Capita x FTE) 1,467               2,144               2,996               2,942                     3,015                     3,159                     3,309                     3,391                     

TOTAL INDIRECT COSTS - RESERVISTS 4,927               7,837               2,996               2,942                     3,015                     3,159                     3,309                     3,391                     

ADDENDUM 'A'
OTHER INDIRECT COSTS
              Civilian Review & Complaints Committee (CRCC) 520                  520                  491                  520 520 520 520 520
              Legal Advisory Services 173                  115                  182                  181 184 187 190 192
              Enhanced Reporting & Accountability 115                  176                  118                  115 115 115 115 115
              Estimated Annual Severance -                   -                   
CONSOLIDATED SERVICES -                   
             Shared Services Canada (SSC) 643                  721                  721                  721 721 721 721 721
              Accounting Operations -                   -                   
              Pay & Compensation -                   -                   

TOTAL PER CAPITA COST (Indirects #6) 1,451               1,532               1,512               1,537 1,540 1,542 1,545 1,548

FISCAL YEAR TO CALENDAR YEAR CONVERSION TABLE

Calendar Year 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
   Fiscal Year Total Current 4,971,266        5,234,710        7,053,868        7,283,947             7,360,872             7,705,146             8,060,162             8,252,139             
   Fiscal per Qtr Current 1,242,816        1,308,677        1,763,467        1,820,987             1,840,218             1,926,287             2,015,041             2,063,035             
   Fiscal Year Total  Prior Year 5,047,847        4,971,266        5,234,710        7,053,868             7,283,947             7,360,872             7,705,146             8,060,162             
   Fiscal per Qtr Prior Year 1,261,962        1,242,816        1,308,677        1,763,467             1,820,987             1,840,218             1,926,287             2,015,041             

Calendar
   Jan - Mar 1,261,962        1,242,816        1,308,677        1,763,467             1,820,987             1,840,218             1,926,287             2,015,041             
   Apr - June 1,242,816        1,308,677        1,763,467        1,820,987             1,840,218             1,926,287             2,015,041             2,063,035             
   Jul - Sept 1,242,816        1,308,677        1,763,467        1,820,987             1,840,218             1,926,287             2,015,041             2,063,035             
   Oct - Dec 1,242,816        1,308,677        1,763,467        1,820,987             1,840,218             1,926,287             2,015,041             2,063,035             

City Calendar Year Total 4,990,411 5,168,849 6,599,078 7,226,427 7,341,641 7,619,078 7,971,408 8,204,145

Colour Legend
Red = Post Budget CEG controlled by OIC

Black = Division Controlled CEG (DCCEG)

Blue lettering = Standard Object (SO)
Blue background = CEG credited to Direct Costs
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NOTES & ASSUMPTIONS for 2022/23 
Municipal Police Unit Agreements 

 
Our terminology for the grouping of General Accounts: 

- Cost Element Group (CEG)        

- Cost Element (CE)    
 
DIRECT COSTS 
 
CEG 30 - RCMP Members Pay (CE 110 - Regular Pay) 

- 2.50% estimated salary increase each year starting from January 1, 2017 

- The deeming of the Civilian Member (CM) category of employees has been further delayed with 
no update as to the conversion date. However, we have included the related pay and pension 
projections for 2022/23 and onwards at the pertinent PSE rates. Other indirect costs will continue 
to be charged on a per FTE basis. 

- Potential impact of cash outs relating to member excess leave is dependent on policy and 
management direction and has not been reflected in the MYFPs. 

 
CEG 190 - Training 

- For Training, growth is related to the delay in training due to COVID-19, Major Case 
Management, Fair and Impartial Policing, Initial Critical Incident Response (ICIR), Operational 
Skills Training (OST), Field Mentorship, and Program Support (e.g. Curriculum Designer, Admin 
Support).  Stability is expected in 2025/26 onwards. 

 
 
DIRECT COST DEDUCTIONS 
 
The following are cost categories that are deducted from the Total Direct Cost incurred for each 
municipality: 

 
A. Non-billable costs are credited from municipal billings, and paid by the Federal Government: 

 CEGs 40 & 41 - Transfer Allowances 

 CEGs 60 to 66 - Relocation Costs 

 CEG 160 - Legal Services 

 CEG 620 - Claims and Compensation Settlements 
 

B. Costs that are deducted from Direct Costs and included in Division Administration: 

 CEG 32 - Pay Members (Severance for death/medical & other discharges/layoff, Maternity 
and Parental allowances) 

 CEGs 200 to 202 - Health Services 
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INDIRECT COSTS 
 
With the exception of Member Pension, all costs below are charged on a per member FTE basis: 

- Member Pension - 19.44% of pensionable cost element items. The Pension Panel will reconvene in 
2023 to determine the next recommended rate eff. Apr. 1, 2024. 

- Member Canada Pension Plan - $3,376.89 

- Member Employment Insurance - $1,059.88 

- Division Administration - $29,676 (Please refer to attached schedule 4)  

- A separate calculation is listed for EI and CPP with respect to Reservists and PSE’s (if applicable) 

- Other Indirect Costs*: 

 Civilian Review and Complaints Commission (formerly PCC) - $519.86 

 Legal Advisory Services - $181.28 

 Enhanced Reporting & Accountability - $114.76 

 Shared Services Canada (SSC) - $721: SSC provides telecommunication and email 
services, networks, data centres, and servers to the RCMP.  This rate is based on the 
historical costs for certain covered services.  Units requesting additional services will be 
billed separately for those services 

 Training & Recruiting:  Based on the rolling average of actual costs for the previous 3 
fiscal years.  For 2022/23, the per FTE rates are estimated at $4,901 for the Cadet Training 
Program and $1,343 for Recruiting. 

 Police Dog Service (PDS) Training:  Based on both the rolling average of actual costs for 
the previous 3 fiscal years and on established PDS teams in each Contract jurisdiction. For 
2022/23, the rate is estimated at $32,907 per PDS team member FTE.  For municipalities 
within the Lower Mainland District, this cost is included in the Integrated Teams budget 
projections. 

 
COSTS BILLABLE AT 100% 
 
The following are some of the items that are billable at 100%: 

- Accommodation costs (including occupancy charge) for municipal units in federally owned 
buildings 

- PSEs Support staff costs (including backfills, overtime, pension, CPP, etc.) 

- Furniture and fixtures 

- House Furnishings 

- Prisoner costs (including guards & matrons, mattresses and blankets for cells) 

Page 80 of 142



SCHEDULE 2 

  Page 3 of 3

 

Clarity to the RCMP Recovery and Invoicing Processes to Align to Police Service Agreements 

 

1. Invoicing – Article 17 Police Service Agreements (PSAs) 

The PSAs are signed by the Minister of Justice (or the Minister responsible for police services) of the 
Province/Territory or Chief Executive Officer (or delegated head of the Municipality) and Article 17 of 
the agreements provides that Canada will invoice for payment "on a quarterly basis" and that each invoice 
"will cover 1/4 of the estimated cost of the" Police Service for that Fiscal Year. Accordingly, the RCMP 
may not invoice other Ministries/Crown Corporations/Agencies of the Province/Territory or Municipality 
or third parties; and invoices should not be created or issued other than the quarterly, aggregate estimates. 

 

2. Agreements with Third Parties and Cost Recoveries  

Under the Section 20 of the RCMP Act, the RCMP can only provide policing services to 
Provincial/Territorial or Municipal governments where a police service agreement has received an Order-
In-Council by the Governor General. Requests for additional policing services must be made through 
existing PSAs and invoiced accordingly. 

Detailed reporting can be provided locally should a Province/Territory/Municipality (PTM) wish to cost 
recover from another level of government and/or third party (i.e. Independent Police Forces); however, the 
recoveries must be facilitated by the PTM. 

 

3. Special Events – Financial Process Further to Article 9 

When a redeployment for a Special Event has been agreed to between the Commanding Officer and the 
PTM, the costs associated with redeploying will be paid by the Province/Territory or Municipality at the 
agreed to cost-share per Article 11. The costs will be included as part of the quarterly billing process.  

 

4. Cost Recoveries for Expenses Related to the Auxiliary Program 

As the Auxiliary Program falls outside the PSAs, an MOU is required between the Province and the 
RCMP in order to provide services under the Auxiliary Program. Provinces/Territories will be responsible 
for 100% of the costs borne by the RCMP in the delivery of the Auxiliary Program, which are to be 
recovered as credits to expenditures for incremental costs only, as per the Treasury Board policy on Cost 
Recovery.  No indirect rates are to be charged, as the PSAs and the cost-shares do not apply. 
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Annual Raise 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Effective Increment for Fiscal Year 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

(April to March: applying 9 months @ current year raise + 3 months following year raise)

FTE FTE Avg Sal Cost FTE Avg Sal Cost FTE Avg Sal Cost FTE Avg Sal Cost FTE Avg Sal Cost

Regular Members 30.70        30.70   3,187,808$    30.70   3,267,503$    31.70   3,453,456$    32.70    3,646,665$  32.70    3,737,832$   

Spl CST -            -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -           -              -        -         -               

CST 21.70        21.70   99,242    2,153,545      21.70   101,723   2,207,383      22.70   104,266   2,366,834      23.70    106,872    2,532,877    23.70    109,544  2,596,199     

CPL 5.00          5.00     109,681   548,404         5.00     112,423   562,114         5.00     115,233   576,167         5.00      118,114    590,571       5.00      121,067  605,336       

SGT 3.00          3.00     119,143   357,430         3.00     122,122   366,366         3.00     125,175   375,525         3.00      128,304    384,913       3.00      131,512  394,536       

SGT MAJ -            -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -           -              -        -         -               

S/SGT 1.00          1.00     128,865   128,429         1.00     132,086   131,640         1.00     135,388   134,931         1.00      138,773    138,304       1.00      142,242  141,762       

S/SGT MAJ -            -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -           -              -        -         -               

INSP -            -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -           -              -        -         -               

SUPT -            -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -           -              -        -         -               

C/SUPT -            -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -           -              -        -         -               

Civilian Members 0.70          0.70     81,822$         0.70     83,868$         0.70     85,965$         0.70      88,114$       0.70      90,317$       

ESS 0.70          0.70     116,889   81,822           0.70     119,811   83,868           0.70     122,807   85,965           0.70      125,877    88,114         0.70      129,024  90,317         

CMP -            -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -           -              -        -         -               

GTE -            -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -           -              -        -         -               

LIN -            -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -          -                 -       -           -              -        -         -               

Grand Total 31.40        31.40   3,269,630$    31.40   3,351,371$    32.40   3,539,421$    33.40    3,734,779$  33.40    3,828,148$   

% Variance 2.50% 2.50% 5.61% 5.52% 2.50%

Average $/FTE 104,140$       106,743$       109,253$       111,831$     114,627$      

2026-27

Courtenay - 5 Year Salary Forecast

2025-262024-252023-242022-232021-22
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SCHEDULE 3B

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Pre Final Budget Estimate

 FTEs 7.01 9.00 9.0

 DIRECT COSTS:

CEG 10 - PAY -  PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES 

CE 500100  REGULAR PAY F/T IND. PSE 236,863                  376,600               384,100               

CE 500107 EMERGENCY SAL ADV (10,432)                   -                      11,000                 

CE 502204 PHOENIX DAMAGES 11,500                    

CE 500136 REG. PAY P/T IND. PSE 31,086                    33,700                 31,700                 

CE 500141 PSE CASUALS 27,254                    78,000                 79,600                 

CE 500142 PSE TERM > 6 MONTHS 19,473                    40,000                 40,800                 

CE 500143 PSE TERM < 6 MONTHS (353)                        

CE 500173 VAC. PAY PT 93                           

CE 500180 VACATION PAY TERM/CASUAL 1,568                      4,000                   4,000                   

CE 500301 PREMIUM PAY & ALLOWANCES 2,706                      5,000                   5,000                   

CE 501154 GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES COMPENSATION - HRSDC 1,935                      

CE 500182 LUMP SUM SETTLEMENT (Not Subject to Superannuation) 3,487                      3,600                   

CE 502202 RETROACTIVE PAY - PRIOR YEAR 22,298                    22,700                 

CEG 11 - OVERTIME - PS 11,465                    39,700                 39,700                 

CEG 12 - PSE ALLOWANCES 2,358                      30,000                 30,000                 

TOTAL DIRECT COSTS 361,301                  637,000               682,200               

 INDIRECT COSTS:

    A) COST OF PS PENSIONS (CE 100, 136,142) 309,720                  450,300               456,600               

PENSION RATE 9.99% 9.99% 9.99%

   TOTAL COST OF PS PENSIONS 30,941                    44,985                 45,614                 

    B) COST OF PS CPP 

AS A PER CAPITA COST 3,214.17                 2,835.10              2,835.10              

 X  PSE UTILIZATION 7.01                        9.00                     9.0                       

  TOTAL COST OF PS CPP 22,519                    25,516                 25,516                 

   C) COST OF EMPLOYERS CONTRIB. to E.I.

AS A PER CAPITA COST 1,210.52                 1,263.07              1,263.07              

 X  PSE UTILIZATION 7.01                        9.00                     9.0                       

  TOTAL COST OF E.I. CONTRIBUTIONS 8,481                      11,368                 11,368                 

   D) COST OF SHARED SERVICES

AS A PER CAPITA COST 721                         721                      721                      

 X  PSE UTILIZATION 7.01                        9.00                     9.0                       

        TOTAL COST OF SSC 5,051                      6,489                   6,489                   

TOTAL INDIRECT COSTS 66,993                    88,358                 88,987                 

TOTAL COST OF PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES 428,293                  725,358               771,187               

CITY OF COURTENAY
COST of PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES
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SCHEDULE 3C

@ Courtenay / Comox Detachment (1st Office)

Direct Operating Costs:

CEG
2020-21

PRE-FINAL

2021-22

ORG. EST

2022-23

ESTIMATE

700170 Contracted Services - Real Property 59,433                72,184           74,349           

700171 Contracted Services - Real Property - Unit Commander Authority -                -                

700218 Contaminated Sites -                -                

700240 Rental of Buildings, Land & Works 4,629                 

700310 Repair of Buildings & Works 2,163                 10,545           10,861           

700311 Repair of Buildings & Works - Unit Commander Authority -                -                

700400 Utilities 22,068                22,730           23,412           

700592 Payment in Lieu of Taxes 18,200                18,746           19,308           

Total O&M Charge 106,493              124,205         127,931         

Occupancy Charge Calculation:

RCMP Municipal Contract EST 40.0                   40.0               40.0               

Municipal Employee EST 4.0                     4.0                 4.0                 

Total Municipal EST (RM plus ME) 44.0                   44.0               44.0               

Total EST in building (RM plus support) 139.5                 140.5             140.5             

Municipal percentage of total building EST 31.5% 31.3% 31.3%

Building Gross Interior Space (sq. m) 1,687.7               1,687.7          1,687.7          

Prorated space charged to Municipal Contract 528.6                 528.6             528.6             

x Provincial rate per square meter 206.62                206.62           206.62           

Occupancy Charge 109,217              109,217         109,217         

Total Property Cost Estimates for Municipal Contract: 215,710              233,422         237,148         

Municipal Contract Accommodation

City of Courtenay
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Schedule 4

Core Administration, Payment in Lieu of Leave, Health Services, Special Leave

YR0 YR1 YR2 YR3 YR4 YR5
 2020/21 
Pre-Final 

 2021/22 
Forecast 

 2022/23 
Forecast 

 2023/24 
Forecast 

 2024/25 
Forecast 

 2025/26 
Forecast 

 2026/27 
Forecast 

Cost Category 
Core Administration 8,146          8,933          8,769          8,920          9,075          9,232          9,393          
Payment in Lieu of Leave 536             552             569             586             603             622             640             
Health Services 4,446          4,669          4,902          5,147          5,405          5,675          5,959          
Special Leave 13,778        14,600        15,436        16,328        17,279        18,293        19,374        
Total Per Capita Divisional Administration 26,906     28,754     29,676     30,981     32,362     33,822     35,367     

Cost Category as a % of Total Divisional Administration 
Core Administration 30% 31% 30% 29% 28% 27% 27%
Payment in Lieu of Leave 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%
Health Services 17% 16% 17% 17% 17% 17% 17%
Special Leave 51% 51% 52% 53% 53% 54% 55%
Total Divisional Administration 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Reference Information 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Estimated Annual Severance Liability 6,323,766   6,323,766   6,323,766   6,323,766   6,323,766   6,323,766   6,323,766   
Estimated Annual Severance Per Capita Rate - Note 3 992.93        992.93        992.93        992.93        992.93        992.93        992.93        

Previous 20/21 5 Year Forecast 26,620        27,770                28,790 30,180        31,400        32,680        NA

Current 21/22 5 Year Forecast 26,906        28,754                29,676 30,981        32,362        33,822        35,367        

Change in Forecast (= current minus previous forecast) 286             984             886             801             962             1,142          

Variables (Growth) 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2025/26 2026/27

Personnel 1.02            1.02            1.02            1.02            1.02            1.02            1.02            
O&M 1.02            1.02            1.02            1.02            1.02            1.02            1.02            
Mat/Pat 1.02            1.01            1.01            1.01            1.01            1.01            1.01            
Pay in Lieu of Leave 1.03            1.03            1.03            1.03            1.03            1.03            1.03            
Medical Leave, Gradual Return to Work, Other LWP 1.05            1.07            1.07            1.07            1.07            1.07            1.07            
Health Services Costs 1.05            1.05            1.05            1.05            1.05            1.05            1.05            

Division Administration

2021-22 FORECAST 5-YEAR FORECAST
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Schedule 5 

 

City of XXXXXX 
XXXXX Ave 
XXXXXX, BC 
 
 
June 15, 2021 
 
Ms. Maricar Bains 
Director of Finance, RCMP Pacific Region 
Mailstop #908, 14200 Green Timbers Way 
Surrey, BC 
V3T 6P3 
 
Dear Ms. Bains: 
 
Re: [Municipality Name] MPUA – Budget Approval in Principle (AIP) Letter – 2022/23 
 
This “approval in principle” letter is being forwarded to confirm to the Federal Treasury Board 
our anticipated Municipal Policing requirements, enabling the Federal Government to set aside 
sufficient financial resources for their proportionate share of Municipal RCMP contract costs. 
 
The City of XXXXXX anticipates that we will require the addition of ### (#) members to our 
detachment strength of ## to bring the total detachment strength to ## for the 2022/23 fiscal 
year.  The budget estimate that is approved in principle is $##.# million at 100% (90% of which 
our municipality is responsible for).  It includes $### of capital equipment costing (>$150K). 
 
This letter provides an “approval in principle” and is issued for planning purposes only.  It 
should not be taken as approval to add the anticipated ## of members to the detachment.  City 
Council will be meeting on XXX, 2021 to confirm the 2022/23 budget and the number of 
additional human resources, if any.  We will inform you of that decision once it is made. 
 
If you have any questions, please give me a call at ###-###-####. 
            
Sincerely, 
 
 
 

      
John Doe 
Treasurer/Deputy Administrator 
 
cc:  XXXXXXX RCMP Detachment 

Contract Management Unit, BC RCMP Operations Strategy Branch 
Mr. Wayne Rideout, Assistant Deputy Minister and Director of Police Services, Policing and 

Security Branch, Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General 

Municipality Over 15,000 
Sample Response 
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Schedule 6 

City of XXXXXX 
XXXXX Ave 
XXXXXX, BC     
 
Month, Date Year 
 
The Honourable Mike Farnworth 
Solicitor General & Minister of Public Safety 
P.O. Box 9010 Prov. Govt. 
Victoria, British Columbia V8W 9L5 
 
Dear Minister Farnworth: 
 
RE: Request for Decrease/Increase in Member(s) to [Municipality Name] RCMP 
Municipal Police Unit 
 
The Council of the [Municipality Name] has authorized and is requesting a decrease/increase of 
___ (#) regular member(s) assigned to its RCMP Municipal Police Unit for the 20##/20## fiscal 
year.  The current [Municipality Name] RCMP Municipal Police Unit’s authorized strength is 
___ (#) members.  With the increase/decrease of ___ position(s), the authorized establishment to 
be recorded in Annex “A” of the [Municipality Name] Municipal Police Unit Agreement will be 
___ (#). As per the terms of the Agreement, the number of members will be increased/decreased 
as soon as practicable within one year of the federal government’s receipt of your letter to the 
federal minister. 
 
I confirm our incremental financial commitment for the costs of the requested increase. 
 
Since establishment increases/decreases require amendments to Annex “A” of the 
Federal/Provincial Agreement, please take the necessary steps to amend the Annex “A” by 
contacting the Solicitor General of Canada. 
 
Thank you for your attention to this matter.  
 
[name/signature] 
 
 
 
 
Cc: 
Member in Charge, Local RCMP Detachment 
Establishment Coordinator, Establishment Unit, RCMP “E” Division Headquarters 
Contract Management Unit, BC RCMP Operations Strategy Branch 
Regional Director, Financial Management, RCMP “E” Division Headquarters 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 

STAFF REPORT 
 

 

To:  Council  File No.:  1870-02 [2020] 

From: Chief Administrative Officer Date:  June 28, 2021 

Subject: 2020 Annual Development Cost Charges (DCC) Report 

 

PURPOSE: 

To present Council with the 2020 Development Cost Charges (DCC) Reserve Fund Summary for information 
purposes. 

 

POLICY ANALYSIS:  

Section 569(1) of the Local Government Act requires municipalities to report on the DCCs collected and spent 
during the fiscal period.  This legislated report must be prepared annually and be made available to the 
public.  

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

The City collects DCCs in accordance with Bylaw 2840 (established 2016) and the balance in the reserves at 
December 31, 2020 is $8,885,487. 

 

In 2020, there were no DCC reductions and/or waivers.  

 

CAO RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That based on the June 28, 2021 staff report “2020 Annual Development Cost Charges (DCC) Report”, Council 
approve OPTION 1, and approve the City of Courtenay 2020 Annual DCC Report. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Geoff Garbutt, M.PI., MCIP, RPP 
Chief Administrative Officer 
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Staff Report - June 28, 2021  Page 2 of 4 
2020 Annual Development Cost Charges (DCC) Report 

 

BACKGROUND: 

In 1994, Council adopted Development Cost Charges Bylaw No. 1741, 1994, to authorize collection of DCC’s 
to help pay for capital costs associated with providing, constructing, altering or expanding sewage, water, 
drainage and highway facilities, and providing and improving parkland.  There have been amendments to 
the DCC bylaw since 1994 and the current bylaw in effect is Bylaw No. 2840, 2016.  

Bylaw 2755, 2015 formally established the following statutory DCC reserve funds: 

a. Highway Facilities Development Cost Charge Reserve 
b. Storm Drainage Facilities Development Cost Charge Reserve 
c. Parkland Acquisition Development Cost Charge Reserve 
d. Water Facilities Development Cost Charge Reserve 
e. Sanitary Sewer Facilities Development Cost Charge Reserve 
f. Sanitary Sewer Facilities North East Zone Development Cost Charge Reserve 

 

All development cost charge funds received to date have been deposited to separate accounts in the general 
ledger, and correctly accounted for in accordance with Section 188 of the Community Charter.  Expenditures 
are approved annually through the financial plan bylaw for the purpose intended. 

DISCUSSION: 

Under Section 569 of the Local Government Act, 

 

“(1) Before June 30 in each year, a local government must prepare and consider a report in accordance with 
this section respecting the previous year. 

(2) the report must include the following, reported for each purpose…for which the local government imposes 
the development cost charge in the applicable year: 

 (a) the amount of the development cost charges received; 

 (b) the expenditures from the development cost charge reserve funds; 

(c) the balance in the development cost charge reserve funds at the start and the end of the applicable 
year; 

(d) any waivers and reductions under section 563(2) 

(3) The local government must make the report available to the public from the time it considers the report 
until June 30 in the following year.” 

 

Approval of the 2020 Development Cost Charges Reserve Fund Report will ensure statutory compliance with 
the Local Government Act. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Any development cost charges collected are initially recorded as deferred revenue on the City’s financial 
statements until spending is authorized by Council, in accordance with the terms of the City’s DCC bylaw and 
Public Sector Accounting Standards.  

 

ADMINISTRATIVE IMPLICATIONS:    

On Council review and approval of the DCC Annual report, it will be made publically available via the City’s 
website. 
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Staff Report - June 28, 2021  Page 3 of 4 
2020 Annual Development Cost Charges (DCC) Report 

 

 

ASSET MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS: 

There are no asset management implications. 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES REFERENCE: 

Not Applicable 

OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN REFERENCE:    

Not Applicable  

REGIONAL GROWTH STRATEGY REFERENCE: 

Goal 5: Infrastructure:  
    New development will replace and/or upgrade aging infrastructure through DCC’s. 

 

CITIZEN/PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT: 

The public will be informed of the outcome of Council’s consideration of the 2020 Annual Development 
Cost Charges Reserve Fund Report. This is based on level one of the IAP2 Spectrum of Public Participation 
adopted as an element of Sound Project Design for the Corporate Workplan. 

 

OPTIONS:    

 1: That Council approves the City of Courtenay Annual Development Cost Charges (DCC) 
Reserve Fund Report for the year ended December 31, 2020.  

 2: That Council defers approval of this report for further discussion. 

 

Prepared by:      Reviewed by: 

        

Krista McClintock, CPA, CGA    Renata Wyka, CPA, CGA 

Accountant      Manager of Finance    
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Staff Report - June 28, 2021  Page 4 of 4 
2020 Annual Development Cost Charges (DCC) Report 

 

 
Concurrence:      Concurrence: 

        
 
Geoff Garbutt, M.PI., MCIP, RPP    Jennifer Nelson, CPA, CGA   
Chief Administrative Officer    Director of Financial Services 
 
  

Attachments: 

A. 2020 Annual Development Cost Charges Reserve Fund Summary 
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Attachment A 

  

City of Courtenay 

2020 Annual Development Cost Charges Reserve Fund Summary 

in accordance with section 569 of the Local Government Act 

  

Water DCC Bylaw #2755  Balance, January 1, 2020  $                          376,436  

Add: DCCs received during the year  $                          159,663  

Add: Interest earned during the year  $                               1,897  

Balance, December 31, 2020  $                          537,995  

  

Sewer DCC Bylaw #1638  Balance, January 1, 2020  $                            34,823  

Add: Interest earned during the year  $                                  166  

Balance, December 31, 2020  $                            34,989  

  

Sewer DCC Bylaw #2755  Balance, January 1, 2020  $                          878,444  

Add: DCCs received during the year  $                          499,746  

Add: Interest earned during the year  $                               4,509  

Less: Greenwood Trunk Construction  $                        (261,298) 

Balance, December 31, 2020  $                      1,121,402  

  

Highway DCC Balance, January 1, 2020  $                      3,571,033  

Add: DCCs received during the year  $                          882,282  

Add: Interest earned during the year  $                            17,558  

Balance, December 31, 2020  $                      4,470,872  

  

Storm DCC Balance, January 1, 2020  $                      1,719,021  

Add: DCCs received during the year  $                          300,909  

Add: Interest earned during the year  $                               8,375  

Balance, December 31, 2020  $                      2,028,305  

  

Parkland DCC Balance, January 1, 2020  $                          558,502  

Add: DCCs received during the year  $                          269,203  

Add: Interest earned during the year  $                               2,819  

Less: Courtenay Riverway South Extension  $                        (138,600) 

Balance, December 31, 2020  $                          691,923  

  

Total DCC Balance December 31, 2020  $                      8,885,487  

  

Waivers and Reductions  

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the City of Courtenay issued no waivers or  
reductions under section 569 (2)(d) 

 

Page 93 of 142



Page 94 of 142



Page 95 of 142



Page 96 of 142



Page 97 of 142



Page 98 of 142



Page 99 of 142



Page 100 of 142



Page 101 of 142



Page 102 of 142



Page 103 of 142



Page 104 of 142



Page 105 of 142



Page 106 of 142



Page 107 of 142



Page 108 of 142



Page 109 of 142



Page 110 of 142



Page 111 of 142



Page 112 of 142



Page 113 of 142



Page 114 of 142



Page 115 of 142



Page 116 of 142



Page 117 of 142



Page 118 of 142



Page 119 of 142



Page 120 of 142



Page 121 of 142



Page 122 of 142



Page 123 of 142



Page 124 of 142



Page 125 of 142



Page 126 of 142



Page 127 of 142



Page 128 of 142



Page 129 of 142



Page 130 of 142



Page 131 of 142



Page 132 of 142



Page 133 of 142



Page 134 of 142



Page 135 of 142



Page 136 of 142



Page 137 of 142



Page 138 of 142



Page 139 of 142



Page 140 of 142



Page 141 of 142



Page 142 of 142


	Agenda
	1.1.1 2021-06-28 Annual Report 2020.pdf
	1.2.1 SR-DFS-2021-06-28 RCMP Policing Expenditure-Approval in Principle.pdf
	1.2.2 SR DFS 2021-06-28 2020 DCC Annual Report.pdf
	2.1 CORRESPONDENCE 2021-06-01 Letter to City of Courtenay RE KFN Cultural and Heritage Policy.pdf

